UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 6-K

REPORT OF FOREIGN PRIVATE ISSUER PURSUANT TO SECTION 13a-16 OR 15d-16 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the month of December, 2022

Commission File Number: 001-40401

Oatly Group AB

(Translation of registrant's name into English)

Jagaregatan 4
211 19 Malmö
Sweden
(Address of principal executive office)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant files or will file annual reports under cover of Form 20-F or Form 40-F.

Form 20-F ⊠

Form 40-F □

Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement

On December 30, 2022, Oatly, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company" or "Oatly") and its wholly owned subsidiary, Oatly US Operations & Supply Inc., entered into an asset purchase agreement (the "Asset Purchase Agreement") with Ya YA Foods USA LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("YYF"), and Aseptic Beverage Holdings LP, a Delaware limited partnership ("Buyer Parent"), to establish a strategic partnership pursuant to which the Company will sell its manufacturing facilities in Ogden, Utah (the "Ogden Facility") and Dallas-Fort Worth, Texas (the "DFW Facility" and, together with the Ogden Facility, the "Facilities") to YYF (collectively, the "Transaction").

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Asset Purchase Agreement, YYF will acquire a majority of the assets that are used in the operation of the Facilities and assume the obligations arising under the real property leases and certain contracts for and related to the Facilities. The Company will continue to own all intellectual property related to production of oat base, the Company's principal, proprietary ingredient for all Oatly products, and the Company will continue to own and operate its own equipment, fixtures and supplies associated with its production of oat base at the Facilities.

In connection with the Transaction, the Company also intends to enter into a ten-year contract manufacturing agreement (the "Co-Pack Agreement") with YYF pursuant to which the Company's finished, oat-based products will be manufactured and filled by YYF pursuant to the Company's specifications.

As consideration for the Transaction, the Company will receive an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$98.1 million. Of this aggregate purchase price, \$86.4 million is attributable to the Ogden Facility, of which (a) \$72.0 million will be paid to the Company through a combination of \$52.0 million cash and \$20.0 million in the form of a promissory note from the Buyer Parent to the Company (as further described below), and (b) \$14.4 million will be in the form of a credit toward future use of shared assets at the Ogden Facility.

The remaining \$11.7 million of the aggregate purchase price is attributable to the DFW Facility, of which (a) \$9.2 million will be a credit toward future capital expenditures associated with completion of oat base capacity at the DFW Facility (subject to a true-up payment for additional costs in excess of the foregoing amount, not to exceed \$3.2 million), and (b) \$2.5 million will be in the form of a credit toward future use of shared assets at the DFW Facility.

As part of the consideration for the Transaction, the Buyer Parent is intended to issue a promissory note for \$20 million to Oatly due May 1, 2028 (the "Note"). The interest rate of the Note begins at 8% and escalates an additional 2% each year. The Note is guaranteed by the founder and chief executive officer of the Buyer Parent. The Buyer Parent's obligation under the Note may be offset by amounts owed to YYF under the Co-Pack Agreement only if such amounts are not paid in accordance with the Co-Pack Agreement. The Note also contains other customary terms and conditions.

YYF will manage and oversee the completion of the DFW Facility. It is anticipated that the DFW Facility will have facilities for the production of Oatly's proprietary oat base, operated by Oatly, and facilities for YYF's manufacturing, labeling, and packaging of certain finished oat-based products for Oatly, as well as other products which may be manufactured by YYF for third party customers. The parties have allocated future costs and decision-making authority accordingly with Oatly responsible for the oat base facility and YYF responsible for the co-pack facility and certain costs and decisions to be the joint responsibility of both parties. The parties have established decision-making processes and procedures for joint matters. A portion of the costs and expenses already incurred on the DFW Facility have been allocated to YYF in connection with the purchase price. If there are delays in completion of the DFW Facility, then each of the parties will have certain rights and obligations depending on whether the cause for delay was in their respective reasonable control. If there is a delay in completing the DFW Facility due to factors outside the control of either party, then YYF will make available capacity for filling and packing Oatly products at its other production facilities.

If YYF withdraws from the DFW Facility project, Oatly has the right (but not obligation) to repurchase the Ogden Facility at the sale price in the Asset Purchase Agreement, subject to certain reductions, offsets and adjustments. If YYF withdraws from the DFW Facility but Oatly does not repurchase the Ogden Facility, then YYF is required to pay Oatly a withdrawal fee and the Co-Pack Agreement for the Ogden Facility will continue subject to certain adjustments.

Additionally, in connection with entrance into the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company and YYF will enter into certain ancillary commercial agreements, including a sublease agreement pursuant to which YYF will sublease portions of the Facilities to Oatly for its production of oat base, which will be supplied to YYF under the Co-Pack Agreement, a shared services agreement to define allocation of responsibility and cost for utilities, infrastructure services and certain ancillary support for the Company's oat base operations at each of the Facilities, a construction and development agreement for the completion of the DFW Facility, and a transition services agreement pursuant to which Oatly will provide certain interim services to facilitate YYF's integration and operations at the Ogden Facility.

The Asset Purchase Agreement and related documentation includes customary indemnification provisions, as well as certain other provisions customary and appropriate for relationships of this nature, including without limitation: reasonable oversight and inspection rights, representations and warranties, preand post-closing covenants, indemnification and insurance requirements, confidentiality, change of control and miscellaneous provisions. The Transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2023, and is subject to customary closing conditions, including but not limited to consents of certain third parties, as well as receipt of certain required regulatory approvals.

In connection with the Transaction, the Company estimates that it will incur a non-cash charge for the impairment of assets of approximately \$40 million to \$45 million. The impairment charge is expected to be recorded in the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2022. The foregoing impairment range is an initial estimate and the ultimate amount to be recorded may differ pending further assessment in connection with the closing of the Transaction.

A news release announcing entrance into the Asset Purchase Agreement is attached as Exhibit 99.1 to this Report on Form 6-K. The foregoing description of the Asset Purchase Agreement and the terms and conditions described therein is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Asset Purchase Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Report on Form 6-K.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Report on Form 6-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any express or implied statements contained in this Report on Form 6-K that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, statements regarding the closing of the Transaction and the anticipated benefits associated with the Transaction, including the completion of the DFW Facility, capital expenditure reductions, the relationship with YYF, the amount and recording of an anticipated impairment charge in connection therewith, as well as statements that include the words "expect," "intend," "plan," "believe," "project," "forecast," "estimate," "may," "should," "anticipate," "will," "aim," "potential," "continue," "is/are likely to" and similar statements of a future or forward-looking nature. Forward-looking statements are neither promises nor guarantees, but involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected, including, without limitation: failure to complete the proposed transactions on the anticipated terms and timing; conditions to the transactions, including receipt of consents, assignments and regulatory approvals, may not be satisfied; our inability to

achieve anticipated synergies, economic performance, and management strategies to grow our business following the transactions; unexpected costs, liabilities, legal proceedings or delays associated with the transactions; general economic conditions including high inflationary cost pressures; our history of losses and inability to achieve or sustain profitability; the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the spread of variants of the virus, on our business and the international economy; reduced or limited availability of oats or other raw materials that meet our quality standards; failure to obtain additional financing to achieve our goals or failure to obtain necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms or at all; damage or disruption to our production facilities; harm to our brand and reputation as the result of real or perceived quality or food safety issues with our products; food safety and food-borne illness incidents and associated lawsuits, product recalls or regulatory enforcement actions; our ability to successfully compete in our highly competitive markets; and the other important factors discussed under the caption "Risk Factors" in the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on April 6, 2022, in our Report on Form 6-K for the period ended September 30, 2022, and the Company's other filings with the SEC as such factors may be updated from time to time. Any forward-looking statements contained in this Report on Form 6-K speak only as of the date hereof and accordingly undue reliance should not be placed on such statements. The Company disclaims any obligation or undertaking to update or revise any forward-looking statements contained in this Report on Form 6-K, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, other than to the extent required by applicable law.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Description
99.1	Press release issued by Oatly Group AB, dated January 3, 2023
99.2*	Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Oatly Inc., Oatly US Operations & Supply Inc., Ya YA Foods USA LLC, and Aseptic Beverage
	Holdings LP, dated December 30, 2022

^{*} Certain schedules and exhibits to the Asset Purchase Agreement have been omitted from this filing. The Company will furnish copies of any such schedules and exhibits to the SEC upon request. In addition, certain portions of the Asset Purchase Agreement (indicated by [******]) have been excluded because they are both not material and are the type that the registrant treats as private or confidential.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Oatly Group AB

Date: January 3, 2023

By: /s/ Christian Hanke

Christian Hanke Chief Financial Officer





Oatly and Ya YA Foods Announce Long-Term Strategic Hybrid Manufacturing Partnership in North America

Ogden, UT and Fort Worth, TX Facilities to Be Converted from End-to-End Manufacturing to Hybrid Production Models in Shift to Asset-Light Supply
Chain Strategy

MALMÖ, Sweden and TORONTO, Canada Jan. 3, 2023 – Oatly Group AB (Nasdaq: OTLY)("Oatly" or the "Company"), the world's original and largest oat drink company, and Ya YA Foods Corporation, a leading contract manufacturer of a broad range of aseptic food and beverage products, today announced a long-term strategic hybrid partnership in North America. In this hybrid partnership, Oatly will continue to produce its proprietary oat base at both the Ogden, UT and Fort Worth, TX facilities, which will then be transferred to Ya YA Foods to be co-packed into Oatly products on-site at each location.

As part of the agreement, Ya YA Foods will acquire a majority of the assets (including mixing and filling equipment) used in the operation and assume the property lease at Oatly's production facility in Ogden, and assume responsibility for the completion of construction of the production facility and the lease in Fort Worth. Oatly will retain full ownership and operation of proprietary oat base production lines in each facility.

Under the terms, Oatly will receive approximately \$72 million, plus an additional credit amount towards future use of shared assets related to the Ogden facility. Oatly will also receive an additional credit towards ongoing construction at the Fort Worth location. The transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2023.

Today's announcement is part of Oatly's shift towards an asset-light supply chain strategy to expand its hybrid production network globally to better support its growth, capacity needs and product and format innovations. The Company expects this hybrid partnership to result in future capital expenditures savings and have a net positive effect on its cash flow outlook. The partnership also marks Ya YA Foods' entry into the U.S. manufacturing market.

Toni Petersson, Oatly's CEO, commented, "We are excited to partner with Ya YA Foods, a leading food and beverage manufacturer who brings deep production expertise and shares our commitment to meeting the highest quality product and safety standards. We believe an increased focus on our oat base technology, innovation, branding and commercial execution will better position Oatly to drive profitable growth, while reducing the capital intensity of our future facilities, and ultimately convert more consumers to plant-based and create more products that are healthy for people and the planet."

Founded in 2008, Ya YA Foods, an Entrepreneurial Equity Partners ("e2p") portfolio company, is one of the largest co-packers in North America and an industry leader in aseptic food and beverage production, including plant-based and high protein beverages, fruit juices, sports drinks, and broths. Utilizing cutting-edge aseptic and hot-fill processing capabilities for carton and PET bottle packaging solutions, Ya YA Foods provides end-to-end packing solutions to blue-chip food and beverage companies.

Yahya Abbas, CEO of Ya YA Foods, said, "We look forward to working with Oatly and supporting their transition to a more asset-light model, allowing them to leverage our significant expertise in aseptic beverage packaging. We are pleased that Oatly recognizes our top-tier food safety track record and unique capabilities and has confidence in our ability to meet their high standards. We expect this transaction to enhance our growth and further strengthen our capabilities: the two properties we are acquiring will increase our geographic profile and scale, allowing us to serve

the vast majority of the United States and Canada. This highly strategic partnership with Oatly is a key step towards achieving our goal of becoming the leading aseptic beverage co-manufacturer in North America."

Oatly pioneered the oatmilk category and sparked the wave of consumer adoption that's taken place in the U.S. market since first launching in the region in 2017. Oatmilk now accounts for 22% of the entire plant-based milk category in the U.S. With strong demand throughout the country via major retail, specialty coffee and foodservice partners, Oatly is the fastest turning brand in the total U.S. dairy and plant-based milk categories. The Company continues to innovate and expand its growing portfolio of non-dairy, oat-based products – including oatmilks, frozen dessert pints and novelties, oatgurts and more – unlocking a significant opportunity for people to continue making the switch to plant-based foods.

For more information about the transaction, its terms and conditions, and associated impairment estimates, please see the Report on Form 6-K filed by Oatly with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on January 3, 2023.

About Oatly

We are the world's original and largest oat drink company. For over 25 years, we have exclusively focused on developing expertise around oats: a global power crop with inherent properties suited for sustainability and human health. Our commitment to oats has resulted in core technical advancements that enabled us to unlock the breadth of the dairy portfolio, including alternatives to milks, ice cream, yogurt, cooking creams, spreads and on-the-go drinks. Headquartered in Malmö, Sweden, the Oatly brand is available in more than 20 countries globally.

About Ya YA Foods

Founded in 2008 and headquartered in Toronto, Canada, Ya YA Foods offers end-to-end packaging solutions to multi-national beverage companies across North America. Ya YA Foods is a leading aseptic contract manufacturer of low-acid beverages such as plant-based milks, plant-based and bone broths, high-protein beverages, and specialty dairy products, as well as high-acid beverages such as juice. For more information, please visit www.yayafoods.com.

About Entrepreneurial Equity Partners

e2p is a middle market, Chicago-based private equity firm focused on control-oriented investments in the food and consumer packaged goods industries. e2p's team includes experienced food and consumer packaged goods executives and investors who bring an entrepreneurial mindset and extensive industry network to support and collaborate with portfolio company teams. For further information, please visit www.e2pcapital.com.

Forward-Looking Statements

This press release contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any express or implied statements contained in this press release that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, statements regarding the closing of and benefits associated with the transactions with Ya YA Foods, including the completion of the Fort Worth, Texas facility, as well as statements that include the words "expect," "intend," "plan," "believe," "project," "forecast," "estimate," "may," "should," "anticipate," "will," "aim," "potential," "continue," "is/are likely to" and similar statements of a future or forward-looking nature. Forward-looking statements are neither promises nor guarantees, but involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected, including, without limitation: failure to complete the proposed transactions on the anticipated terms and timing; conditions to the transactions, including receipt of consents, assignments and regulatory approvals, may not be satisfied; our inability to achieve anticipated synergies, economic performance, and management strategies to grow our business following the transactions; unexpected costs, liabilities, legal proceedings or delays associated with the transactions; general economic conditions including high inflationary cost pressures; our history of losses and inability to achieve or sustain profitability; the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the spread of variants of the virus, on our business and the international economy; reduced or limited availability of oats or other raw materials that meet

our quality standards; failure to obtain additional financing to achieve our goals or failure to obtain necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms or at all; damage or disruption to our production facilities; harm to our brand and reputation as the result of real or perceived quality or food safety issues with our products; food safety and food-borne illness incidents and associated lawsuits, product recalls or regulatory enforcement actions; our ability to successfully compete in our highly competitive markets; and the other important factors discussed under the caption "Risk Factors" in the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on April 6, 2022, in our Report on Form 6-K for the period ended September 30, 2022, and the Company's other filings with the SEC as such factors may be updated from time to time. Any forward-looking statements contained in this press release speak only as of the date hereof and accordingly undue reliance should not be placed on such statements. The Company disclaims any obligation or undertaking to update or revise any forward-looking statements contained in this press release, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, other than to the extent required by applicable law.

Contacts

Oatly Group AB +1 866-704-0391 investors@oatly.com press.us@oatly.com

Ya YA Foods +1 312-771-6805 mkennerly@incline-com.com CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN EXCLUDED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE OF INFORMATION THAT THE REGISTRANT CUSTOMARILY AND ACTUALLY TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL. [******] INDICATES THAT INFORMATION HAS BEEN REDACTED.

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

OATLY INC.,

OATLY US OPERATIONS & SUPPLY INC.,

YA YA FOODS USA LLC,

AND

ASEPTIC BEVERAGE HOLDINGS LP

December 30, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	ALLEGE OF CONTENTS	<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE I DI	EFINITIONS	1
1.1	Certain Defined Terms	1
ARTICLE II P	PURCHASE AND SALE	11
2.1	Purchase and Sale of the Purchased Assets; Excluded Assets	11
2.2	Assumption of Liabilities; Excluded Liabilities	12
2.3	Payment of Purchase Price	14
2.4	Closing	14
2.5	Allocation of Purchase Price	14
2.6	Prorations	15
2.7	Withholding	15
ARTICLE III	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS	15
3.1	Organization	15
3.2	Authority	15
3.3	No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	16
3.4	Title; Sufficiency and Condition of Assets	16
3.5	Inventory	16
3.6	Absence of Certain Changes	17
3.7	Compliance with Law; Permits	17
3.8	Litigation	18
3.9	Financial Statements and Records	18
3.10	Taxes	18
3.11	Material Contracts	19
3.12	Real Property	20
3.13	Intellectual Property	20
3.14	Environmental Matters	21
3.15	Employment Matters	22
3.16	Employee Benefits	23
3.17	Insurance Policies	24
3.18	Information Technology	24
3.19	Material Suppliers	25
3.20	Brokers	25
ARTICLE IV	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER	25
4.1	Organization	25
4.2	Authority	25

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

			<u>Page</u>
	4.3	No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	25
	4.4	Buyer's Investigation and Reliance	26
	4.5	Exclusivity of Representations and Warranties	26
	4.6	Financial Capability	27
	4.7	Financial Statements and Records; No Undisclosed Liabilities	28
	4.8	Solvency	28
	4.9	Litigation	28
RTI	CLE V COV	ENANTS	28
	5.1	Pre-Closing Covenants	28
	5.2	Third Party Consents	30
	5.3	Notification of Certain Matters; Disclosure Schedules Supplement	30
	5.4	Exclusivity	31
	5.5	Access	31
	5.6	Construction	32
	5.7	Retained Marks	32
	5.8	Confidentiality	32
	5.9	Public Announcements	32
	5.10	Employee Matters.	32
	5.11	Tax Matters	33
	5.12	Further Assurances	34
	5.13	Restrictive Covenants	34
	5.14	Transition Service	35
	5.15	Misdirected Payments and Assets	35
	5.16	Financing Cooperation	35
RTI	CLE VI CO	NDITIONS TO CLOSING	36
	6.1	Conditions to Obligations of Buyer to Close	36
	6.2	Conditions to Obligation of Sellers to Close	38
RTI	CLE VII INI	DEMNIFICATION	39
	7.1	Survival	39
	7.2	Indemnification By Sellers	39
	7.3	Indemnification by Buyer	40
	7.4	Certain Limitations	40
	7.5	Indemnification Procedures	41
		iii	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

-		11
100	ntın	H DAIL
1111	шиш	<u>ued)</u>
		 /-

			<u>Page</u>
	7.6	Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments	42
	7.7	Exclusive Remedies	42
AR	TICLE VIII	TERMINATION	43
	8.1	Termination	43
	8.2	Effect of Termination	43
AR	FICLE IX G	GENERAL PROVISIONS	44
	9.1	Financing Related Parties	44
	9.2	Fees and Expenses	44
	9.3	Amendment and Modification	44
	9.4	Waiver	44
	9.5	Notices	44
	9.6	Interpretation	45
	9.7	Entire Agreement	46
	9.8	Third-Party Beneficiaries	46
	9.9	Governing Law	46
	9.10	Waiver of Jury Trial	46
	9.11	Disputes	46
	9.12	Specific Performance	47
	9.13	Disclosure Generally	47
	9.14	Non-Recourse	48
	9.15	Assignment; Successors	48
	9.16	Currency	48
	9.17	Severability	48
	9.18	Counterparts	48
	9.19	Electronic or .pdf Signature	48
	9.20	Time of Essence	48
	9.21	No Presumption Against Drafting Party	48

EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

Exhibit A – Form of Co-Pack Agreement

Exhibit B – Form of Seller Note

Exhibit C – Form of Shared Services Agreement

Exhibit D – Form of Sublease Agreement

Exhibit E – Commitment Letter

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

<u>Page</u>

v

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Asset Purchase Agreement (this "Agreement"), dated as of December 30, 2022 (the "Effective Date") by and among Oatly Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Oatly"), Oatly US Operations & Supply Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Oatly Subsidiary", each of Oatly and Oatly Subsidiary are each, individually, a "Seller" and, together, "Sellers"), Ya YA Foods USA LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Buyer"), and Aseptic Beverage Holdings LP, a Delaware limited partnership ("Buyer Parent") for the limited purposes set forth herein.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Sellers own certain assets and contractual obligations, including leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment located at Sellers' manufacturing facility located at 450 Depot Drive, Ogden, UT 84404 (the "**Ogden Facility**");

WHEREAS, Sellers own certain assets and contractual obligations associated with Sellers' build of a manufacturing facility located at Suite 170, 7550 Oak Grove Road, Fort Worth, TX 76140 (the "DFW Facility"); and

WHEREAS, Sellers wish to sell to Buyer, and Buyer wishes to purchase from Sellers, the Purchased Assets, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties agree as set forth below.

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

- 1.1 **Certain Defined Terms**. For purposes of this Agreement:
- "Accounting Principles" means the accounting principles practices, procedures, policies and methods (with consistent classifications, judgments, inclusions, exclusions and valuation and estimation methodologies) set forth in <u>Schedule 1.1(a)</u>.
- "Acquisition Agreements" means collectively, this Agreement, the Co-Pack Agreement, the Seller Note, the Shared Services Agreement, the Sublease Agreement, the Bill of Sale, the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the Lease Assignments, the TSA and all other conveyance documents related thereto.
- "Action" means any claim, action, suit, arbitration, audit, subpoena, inquiry, investigation or proceeding (whether judicial, administrative or otherwise) by or before any Governmental Authority.
 - "Affected Employees" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10(a).
- "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first Person. "control," including the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with," means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and

4877-0404-5882v.16 0120361-000001

policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, as trustee or executor, as general partner or managing member, by Contract or otherwise.

- "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
- "Allocation Schedule" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.
- "Assignment and Assumption Agreement" means an instrument of assignment and assumption in a form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer and Sellers.
 - "Assumed Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
 - "Base Purchase Price" means \$72,000,000.
 - "Bill of Sale" means a bill of sale in a form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer and Sellers.
- "Business" means the business conducted by Sellers at the Facilities, including any business conducted under or relating to the Transferred Contracts and with or related to the Purchased Assets, but excluding the Oat Base Business, and excluding Oatly's business of selling finished products to customers (including retail and wholesale accounts).
- "Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banks in New York, New York are required or authorized by Law to be closed for business.
 - "Business IT Systems" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(vii).
 - "Buyer" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
 - "Buyer Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.7(a).
- "Buyer Material Adverse Effect" means any Effect that would prevent, materially delay or materially impede Buyer's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreements.
 - "Buyer Parent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
- "Cash" means, as of the Closing Time, all cash and cash equivalents (including short term investments) of Sellers and all checks and funds received by Sellers or their banks (e.g., checks deposited or funds paid to lock-box accounts) as of the Closing Time, regardless of whether cleared.
 - "Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.
 - "Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.
 - "Closing Time" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.
- "Co-Pack Agreement" means that contract manufacturing agreement by and between Oatly Subsidiary and Buyer substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
 - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
 - "Commitment Letter" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.6(a).

- "Competing Transaction" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.
- "Confidentiality Agreement" means that certain Mutual Non-Disclosure Agreement, dated May 11, 2022, by and between Oatly AB and Ya YA Foods Corp.
- "Consumables" means any and all items that are consumed and require replacement in the performance of the Business, including (but in no way is limited to): lubricants, chemicals, fluids, oils, filters, fittings, connectors, seals, gaskets, hardware, wire, safety equipment, replacement parts and other similar materials; maintenance, shop, and office supplies on hand and stored at, or in transit to, the Facilities as of the Closing; and all other materials, supplies and other items at the Facilities that are consumed or otherwise held for use in the performance of the Business, but not including the Inventory.
- "Contract" means any written or oral contract, agreement, subcontract, license, sublicense, lease, sublease, sales order, purchase order, indenture, mortgage, note, bond, letter of credit, warrant, guaranty, instrument, obligation, binding commitment or understanding (including all amendments, supplements and modifications thereto).
 - "Copyrights" means rights in original works of authorship, including registrations and applications therefor.
- "Data Room" means the electronic data site established by Sellers and Oatly containing the documents evidencing the Purchased Assets and all other documentation provided in relation to the Buyer's due diligence in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 - "Deductible" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.4(a).
- "DFW Amount" means \$9,223,074 provided however, that in the event that actual incremental expenditures comprising Sellers' allocated share of capital expenditures for future Joint Matters (as defined in Exhibit 5.6) in connection with the construction and development of the DFW Facility (as contemplated in Exhibit 5.6) by the Sellers between the Effective Date and the Closing Date exceeds the foregoing amount, the foregoing amount will be subject to a true-up at Closing, as reasonably documented to the reasonable satisfaction of the Buyer, which in no event may be more than \$3,202,859 greater than the amount first provided herein without the prior written approval of the Buyer. In the event that the Sellers reasonably anticipate that the DFW Amount will exceed such threshold, they will provide written notice thereof in advance to the Buyer, and provide the Buyer with an opportunity to review all information reasonably requested in relation to any such excess expenditures.
 - "DFW Facility" has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
 - "Direct Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.5(c).
 - "Disclosure Schedules" means the disclosure schedules attached hereto.
 - "Effect" has the meaning set forth in the definition of "Material Adverse Effect" in this Section 1.1.
 - "Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
- "Employee Plans" means (i) all "employee benefit plans" as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA (whether or not subject to ERISA), all specified fringe benefit plans as defined in Section 6039D of the Code, and all other bonus, incentive compensation, deferred compensation, profit sharing, stock

option, stock appreciation right, stock bonus, stock purchase, other equity-based or phantom equity, employee stock ownership, savings, severance, supplemental unemployment, layoff, salary continuation, retirement, pension, health, life insurance, dental, vision, prescription drug, disability, accident, group insurance, vacation, holiday, sick leave, paid time off, fringe benefit or (including, without limitation, employer-provided vehicles and housing) welfare plan, and any other employee compensation or benefit plan, agreement, policy, practice, commitment, contract, or understanding (whether qualified or nonqualified, written or unwritten), and any trust, escrow or other agreement related thereto, which currently is sponsored, established, maintained or contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by the Sellers or for which the Sellers have any liability, contingent or otherwise, including by reason of its present or past ERISA Affiliates, and (ii) all "multiemployer plans," as that term is defined in Sections 3(37) and 4001 of ERISA and all "employee benefit plans" (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) that are subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code which the Sellers or any ERISA Affiliate have maintained or contributed to or been required to contribute to at any time within six years prior to the Closing Date or with respect to which the Sellers have any liability or reasonable expectation of liability. For the avoidance of doubt, "Employee Plans" includes all employee benefit plans provided by a Professional Employer Organization.

"Environmental Claim" means any claim, or any Order, action, suit, investigation or other legal proceeding by any Person alleging Liability of whatever kind or nature (including liability or responsibility for the costs of enforcement proceedings, investigations, cleanup, response, removal or remediation, natural resource damages, property damages, personal injuries, medical monitoring, penalties, contribution, indemnification and injunctive relief) arising out of, based on or resulting from: (a) the presence, Release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Materials; or (b) any Environmental Law or any Environmental Permit.

"Environmental Laws" means any applicable Laws in effect as of the date hereof: (a) relating to pollution (or the cleanup thereof) or the protection of natural resources, endangered or threatened species, or the environment; or (b) concerning the presence of, exposure to, or the management, manufacture, use, containment, storage, recycling, reclamation, reuse, treatment, generation, discharge, transportation, processing production, disposal or remediation of any pollutant or contaminant.

"Environmental Notice" means any written directive, notice of violation or infraction, notice of Liability, or notice respecting any Environmental Claim relating to any Environmental Law or any Environmental Permit.

"Environmental Permit" means any Permit, letter, clearance, consent, waiver, closure, exemption, decision or other action required under or issued, granted, given, authorized by or made pursuant to Environmental Law.

"ERISA Affiliate" means any Person that is or was at any time a member of a controlled group of corporations with the Sellers within the meaning of Code Section 414(b), a trade or business that is or was under common control with the Sellers within the meaning of Code Section 414(c), or a member of an affiliated service group with the Sellers within the meaning of Code Section 414(m) or (o).

"Excluded Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b).

"Excluded Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b).

"Expense Reimbursement" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

- "Facilities" means, collectively, the Ogden Facility and the DFW Facility, but excluding the Oat Base Facilities.
- "Facilities Employee Plans" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.16(a).
- "Facilities Employees" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).
- "Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.9(a).
- "Financing" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.16(a).
- "Financing Related Parties" means the Financing Sources, each former, current and future Affiliate thereof and each former, current and future Representative of each such Person; *provided*, *however*, that neither Buyer nor any affiliate of Buyer shall be deemed a Financing Related Party.
- "Financing Sources" means the agents, arrangers, lenders and other Persons that have committed to or commit to provide all or any part of the Financing or have otherwise entered into or enter into agreements in connection with the Financing, or to purchase securities from or place securities or arrange or provide loans for Buyer or any of its Affiliates in connection with the Financing; provided, however, that neither Buyer nor any Affiliate of Buyer shall be a Financing Source.
 - "Furnishings & Equipment" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(iii).
 - "Fundamental Representations" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(a).
 - "GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time.
- "Governmental Authority" means any United States or non-United States, federal, state or local governmental, regulatory or administrative authority, agency or commission or any judicial or arbitral body.
- "Hazardous Materials" means: (a) any pollutant, contaminant, material, substance, chemical, waste, product, derivative, compound, mixture, solid, liquid, mineral or gas, in each case, whether naturally occurring or manmade, that is regulated, or gives rise to Liability, under Environmental Laws; and (b) any petroleum or petroleum-derived products, radon, radioactive materials or wastes, asbestos in any form, lead or lead-containing materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, perfluorinated or polyfluorinated alkyl substances and polychlorinated biphenyls.
 - "Incentive Plan" means the Oatly Group AB (publ) 2021 Incentive Award Plan.
- "Income Tax" means any Tax imposed on, based upon or measured by income and any franchise Taxes imposed in lieu of income Taxes (including any Tax in the nature of minimum taxes, tax preference items and alternative minimum taxes).
 - "Income Tax Return" means a Tax Return for Income Taxes and similar or equivalent state and local Tax Returns.
- "Indebtedness" means, without duplication and with respect to any Person, the following obligations that are outstanding as of the time immediately prior to the Closing and incurred exclusively in connection with the Business: (a) the amount of all obligations for borrowed money (including any unpaid

principal, premium, accrued and unpaid interest, prepayment penalties, commitment and other fees, reimbursements and all other amounts payable in connection therewith), (b) any Liabilities evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, or other similar instruments or debt securities, (c) any obligations, contingent or otherwise, in respect of any letters of credit or bankers' acceptances, performance bonds, surety bonds or other forms of financial assurance, (d) any interest rate swap, forward contract or other hedging arrangement, (e) all obligations of such Person as lessee under leases that are or should be properly recorded as capital leases under GAAP, (f) all amounts owing as deferred purchase price for property or services, whether or not contingent, including any "earn-out" or similar payments or obligations, (g) breakage costs, termination fees or other similar fees, costs and expenses under any Contract other than the Transferred Contracts, (h) accrued but unpaid bonuses or other contingent compensation (including Taxes relating thereto), (i) any guaranty or other obligation for which such Person is liable, directly or indirectly, as obligor, surety or otherwise, or which is secured by any Lien on the assets of such Person, in each case with respect to any indebtedness or obligations of any other Person of the type described in clauses (a) through (h) above, and (j) all accrued and unpaid interest on any Indebtedness referred to in clauses (a) through (i) above through the Closing Date and any principal, accreted value, prepayment penalties (including any prepayment or redemption premiums and penalties), premiums, consent or other fees, breakage costs on interest rate swaps and any other hedging obligations (including foreign exchange Contracts) or other costs incurred in connection with the repayment or assumption of such Indebtedness.

"Indemnity Exceptions" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.16(c).

"Insurance Policies" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.17.

"Integrated Assets" means those certain capital assets included in the Purchased Assets which are integrated and not severable from or within the Ogden Facility and the DFW Facility, but which will be available and essential for the shared use in the operation of the Oat Base Facility pursuant to the Sublease, as set forth on Schedule 2.1(a)(xi).

"Integrated Assets Value" means \$14,399,926.50 with respect to the Ogden Facility, and an estimated \$2,457,039 with respect to the DFW Facility; provided, that the Integrated Assets Value for each of the Facilities as of the Closing shall be subject to further review and written confirmation by the Parties, each acting reasonably and in good faith, consistently with the principles for identifying the Integrated Assets and determining the Integrated Assets Value for the Ogden Facility on the date hereof.

"Intellectual Property" means all intellectual property rights arising under the Laws of the United States or any other jurisdiction with respect to the following: (i) Marks; (ii) Patents; (iii) Copyrights; and (iv) proprietary and/or confidential Know-How (including trade secrets), business methods and processes, technical data, rights in databases, research and development information, technology, inventions (whether or not patentable), and vendor and customer lists, in each case to the extent such item derives economic value from not being generally known to other Persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure, but excluding any Copyrights or Patents that cover or protect any of the foregoing.

"Inventory" means all ingredients, packaging, raw materials, and work in process, in use, in storage, or in transit, owned, held or used primarily in connection with the Business as required to manufacture finished products pursuant to the Co-Pack Agreement, whether held at the Ogden Facility or at any location or other facility of, or in transit to, Sellers, but specifically excluding the Oat Base, any raw materials, work in process inventory used to make the Oat Base, excluding supplies used for the operation of the Oat Base equipment, and excluding finished goods.

"Know-How" means trade secrets, inventions, discoveries, formulae, practices, processes, procedures, ideas, specifications, engineering data, databases, and data collections.

- "Knowledge of Sellers" means the actual knowledge, after reasonable inquiry, of Mike Messersmith.
- "Law" means any statute, law (including the common law), ordinance, regulation, rule, code, injunction, judgment, decree or Order of any Governmental Authority.
- "Lease Assignments" means an assignment and assumption of lease in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit G for each of the Leases.
 - "Leased Real Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(a).
 - "Leases" means the real property leases for each of the Facilities as set forth and described in Schedule 3.12(a).
- "Liability" or "Liabilities" means all liabilities, obligations, commitment or Indebtedness of any kind and nature, whether known or unknown, express or implied, primarily or secondarily, direct or indirect, absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise and whether due or to become due, including those arising under any Contract or Law.
- "Lien" means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, lien, encumbrance, charge, right of first refusal, restriction, security interest or other similar interest or right.
- "Look-Back Date" means April 1, 2020 with respect to Oatly's operation of the Business and Purchased Assets associated with the Ogden Facility, and means March 31, 2021 with respect to the Purchased Assets associated with the DFW Facility.
- "Losses" means any and all losses, damages, Liabilities, costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys' and other professional advisors' fees), penalties, judgment amounts, interest, amounts paid in settlement, Taxes and other charges.
- "Marks" means trade names, trademarks and service marks, domain names, trade dress, business/corporate names, and registrations and applications therefor.
- "Material Adverse Effect" means any event, circumstance, development, change, effect or occurrence (an "Effect") that, individually or in the aggregate with any other Effect (x) has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on the business, properties, assets, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operations of the Business or of the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities or (y) prevents, materially delays or materially impedes Sellers' ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreements, other than any Effect arising out of or resulting from, individually or in the aggregate: (a) any Effect affecting the economy of the United States generally, including changes in the United States or foreign credit, debt, capital, currency, trade or financial markets (including changes in interest or exchange rates) or the economy of any town, city, region, state or country (including in which the Facilities operate), or other general economic, political or regulatory conditions globally or in any jurisdiction; (b) the taking of any action (or the omission of taking any action) by Sellers or its Affiliates as expressly required by this Agreement or the taking of any action (or the omission of taking any action) at the written request of or with the written consent of Buyer; (c) earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, other natural disasters and weather-related events, pandemics or epidemics (including the COVID-19 pandemic), Orders to shut-down or stay-at-home (including any COVID-19 measures), natural disasters or global, national or regional political conditions, including actual or threatened hostilities, military actions, political instability, sabotage, cyber-attack, acts of terrorism or war or any escalation or material worsening of any such hostilities, military actions, political instability, acts of

terrorism or war existing or underway as of the date hereof; (d) changes or proposed changes in applicable Law or GAAP or the interpretation thereof; or (e) any failure to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or predictions in respect of financial performance (it being understood that any underlying facts giving rise or contributing to such failure that are not otherwise excluded from the definition of "Material Adverse Effect" may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a "Material Adverse Effect"); provided, however, that, with respect to the foregoing clauses (a), (c), (d) and (e), such Effect shall only be excluded to the extent such Effect does not have a disproportionate impact on the Business, the Facilities or on the Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities, in each case, relative to those of other Persons engaged in the industries and markets in which Sellers conduct their business.

"Material Supplier" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19.

"Oat Base" means the oat base which serves as the principal ingredient for all of Sellers' products.

"Oat Base Assets" means all trade secrets, formulas, and processes of Sellers and their Affiliates used to produce the Oat Base, as well as the equipment, hardware and software (including information technology assets) furniture, fixtures, supplies, and leasehold improvements and capital expenditures used exclusively in connection with the Oat Base Facilities, the production of the Oat Base, including the storage of Oat Base and the fibrous residue byproduct associated with the production of Oat Base.

"Oat Base Business" means Sellers' business of producing Oat Base at the Oat Base Facilities.

"Oat Base Facilities" means the portion of the Facilities that are used exclusively in connection with Sellers' production of Oat Base at the Ogden Facility (as set forth in the Sublease Agreement) and the DFW Facility.

"Oatly" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

"Oatly Subsidiary" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

"Ogden Facility" has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

"Order" means any writ, judgment, decree, injunction, ruling, determination, subpoena, edit, verdict, award, settlement, stipulation or similar order of any Governmental Authority, in each case whether temporary, preliminary, permanent or final.

"Organizational Documents" means, with respect to any Person, the formation and organizational documents of such Person (including any certificate of formation, articles of association or incorporation, bylaws, limited liability company agreement, operating agreement, partnership agreement or shareholders agreement).

"Parties" means Buyer and Sellers.

"Patents" means issued patents and patent applications.

"Permits" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

"Permitted Lien" means (a) statutory liens for current Taxes not yet due or delinquent or the validity or amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (b) mechanics', carriers', workers', repairers' and other similar liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice relating to obligations not yet due or delinquent, or the validity or amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, or pledges, deposits or other liens securing the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases or statutory obligations (including workers' compensation, unemployment insurance or other social security legislation) to the extent there is no default on the part of Sellers in connection therewith, (c) zoning, entitlement, conservation restriction and other land use and environmental regulations promulgated by Governmental Authorities and (d) all exceptions, restrictions, easements, imperfections of title, charges, rights-of-way and other Liens of record that do not individually or in the aggregate materially interfere with the present use or occupancy of the Purchased Assets.

"Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, syndicate, person, trust, association, organization or other entity, including any Governmental Authority, and including any successor, by merger or otherwise, of any of the foregoing.

"Pre-Closing Tax Period" means any taxable period (or the portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date.

"Purchase Price" means an amount equal to (a) the Base Purchase Price, plus (b) the Integrated Assets Value, plus (c) the DFW Amount.

"Purchased Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

"Release" means any actual or threatened release, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, abandonment, disposing or allowing to escape or migrate into or through the environment (including without limitation, ambient air (indoor or outdoor), surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata or within any building, structure, facility or fixture).

"Representatives" means, with respect to any Person, the officers, directors, principals, employees, agents, auditors, advisors, bankers and other representatives of such Person.

"Restricted Period" means the period beginning on the Closing Date and continuing until the second (2nd) anniversary of the termination of the Co-Pack Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof (which date shall be extended by any period of time that the parties subject to the Co-Pack Agreement are in breach of their obligations under Section 5.13).

"Retained Employee" means those employees of the Company that will continue to be employed by the Company following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Retained Names and Marks" means Sellers' and their Affiliates' right, title and interest in and to the name "OATLY" together with all variations thereof and all registered and unregistered trademarks, service marks, domain names, trade names, trade dress, corporate names and other identifiers of source containing or incorporating any of the foregoing as well as any and all other registered and unregistered trademarks, service marks, slogans, tag lines, domain names, and trade dress owned or licensed by Sellers and their Affiliates.

- "RSUs" means Restricted Stock Units awarded to certain Facilities Employees pursuant to the Incentive Plan.
- "Seller Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3.
- "Seller Note" means the promissory note made to the order of Sellers in the initial principal amount of Twenty Million Dollars (\$20,000,000.00) in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.
 - "Sellers" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
- "Shared Services Agreement" means that certain shared services agreement by and between Oatly Subsidiary and Buyer in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.
 - "Specified Courts" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.11(a).
 - "Straddle Period" means a taxable period that begins on or before the Closing Date and ends after the Closing Date.
 - "Straddle Period Tax Return" means any Tax Return relating to a Straddle Period.
- "Sublease Agreement" means the sublease agreement between Buyer and Oatly Subsidiary substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit D.
- "**Tax Return**" means any return, declaration, report, statement, information statement and other document required to be filed with a Governmental Authority relating to Taxes.
- "Taxes" means any federal, state, local, or non-U.S. income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Section 59A of the Code), customs duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, whether computed on a separate or consolidated, unitary or combined basis or in any other manner, including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether disputed or not.
 - "Third-Party Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.5(a).
 - "Transfer Taxes" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.11(a).
 - "Transferred Contracts" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(i).
 - "TSA" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.14.
 - "TSA Services" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.14.
 - "WARN" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10(b).

ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE

2.1 Purchase and Sale of the Purchased Assets; Excluded Assets.

- (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Sellers shall sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Buyer all of their right, title and interest as of the Closing Date in and to the Purchased Assets, free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens, and Buyer, as applicable, shall purchase, acquire, accept and pay for the Purchased Assets. "Purchased Assets" means all of the assets, properties, rights, and claims, of every kind and nature and wherever located, whether tangible or intangible, real, personal, or mixed, owned, leased, or licensed by any Seller (other than the Excluded Assets), in each case to the extent relating primarily to, or primarily used or held for use in, the Business and the operation of the Facilities, including the following:
- (i) except for Contracts relating to the incurrence of any Indebtedness or the placing of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens), all Contracts relating to the Business and the operation of the Facilities, including the Leases and those Contracts listed on Schedule 2.1(a)(i), to which any Seller is a party or by which any Seller is bound (collectively, the "Transferred Contracts");
- (ii) all prepaid expenses, deferred charges, advance payments, security deposits and other similar items primarily relating to or arising out of the Business and the operation of the Facilities;
- (iii) all furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment, forklifts and other vehicles and items of tangible property, including Consumables and replacement parts on hand for Furnishings & Equipment used or held for use in the Business and the operation of the Facilities, printers, computers, computer hardware, and other information technology assets, whether attached or unattached, in use or in storage, located at the Facilities but specifically excluding the Oat Base Assets, tangible personal property exclusively used to create the Oat Base, and vehicles owned by Sellers and used to transport finished goods from the Facilities (the "Furnishings & Equipment");
- (iv) all Permits held by Sellers for the operation and construction of the Facilities, to the extent transferable in accordance with applicable Law;
- (v) all of Sellers' rights under warranties and indemnities and all similar rights against third parties to the extent exclusively related to any Purchased Assets;
- (vi) originals, or where not available, copies of all records, including maintenance files and production data, that exclusively relate to the Business, including all supplier lists, sales records, product specifications, engineering data, maintenance schedules and operating and production records;
- (vii) all information technology and computer systems exclusively used by Sellers in the operation of the Facilities (collectively, the "Business IT Systems");
- (viii) to the extent permitted by applicable Law, all personnel, employee compensation and benefits records relating to Affected Employees;
- (ix) all of the Know-How of Sellers to the extent exclusively used in the Business and the operation of the Facilities, but excluding all other Know-How, including, without limitation, any Know-How relating to the Oat Base Assets, the production of Oat Base and the operation of the Oat Base Facilities;

- (x) any and all rights, claims and causes of action arising out of any of the Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities with respect to events occurring on or after the Closing Date; and
 - (xi) those assets set forth on Schedule 2.1(a)(xi).
- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Purchased Assets shall not include any assets of the Sellers relating to, but not primarily used in, the operation of the Facilities, including, without limitation, the following enumerated assets (the "Excluded Assets"):
 - (i) Cash;
- (ii) all Oat Base Assets, including, without limitation, (x) those Oat Base Assets located in Subleased Premises (as defined in the Sublease Agreement) as set forth on Schedule 2.1(b)(ii)(x) and (y) those Oat Base Assets not located within the Subleased Premises and set forth on Schedule 2.1(b)(ii)(y);
 - (iii) Inventory;
- (iv) other than the Know-How referenced in <u>Section 2.1(a)(ix)</u>, all Intellectual Property owned or used by Sellers or any Affiliate of Sellers as of the date hereof, including the Retained Names and Marks;
- (v) vehicles owned by Sellers or their Affiliates and used to transport finished goods, but not including any vehicles included in the Furnishings & Equipment;
 - (vi) insurance policies and rights, claims or causes of action thereunder;
- (vii) except to the extent included in the Purchased Assets, corporate books and records of internal corporate proceedings, Tax records, accounting records, work papers, internal reports and books;
- (viii) all rights, claims and causes of action relating to any Excluded Asset or Excluded Liability or arising out of any of the Purchased Assets with respect to events occurring prior to the Closing Date (to the extent not related to an Assumed Liability);
 - (ix) the Contracts to which any Seller is a party, other than any Transferred Contract;
 - (x) all Employee Plans and the assets thereof; and
- (xi) all rights of Sellers under this Agreement and the other Acquisition Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

2.2 Assumption of Liabilities; Excluded Liabilities.

- (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Buyer shall assume and pay, discharge, perform or otherwise satisfy only the following Liabilities of Sellers (collectively, the "Assumed Liabilities"):
 - (i) all Liabilities associated with the Purchased Assets accruing on or after the Closing Date;

- (ii) all Liabilities related to the ownership or use of the Purchased Assets on or after the Closing Date by Buyer;
- (iii) all Liabilities related to or arising out of Buyer's employment of the Affected Employees arising on or after the Closing Date, including all claims asserted by or on behalf of one or more Affected Employees accruing on or after the Closing Date;
- (iv) all Liabilities of Sellers under the Transferred Contracts and Permits to be performed on or after the Closing Date (including the payment of money with respect to any obligation arising under any such Transferred Contract or Permit accruing on or after the Closing Date), except to the extent any such Liabilities, but for a breach or default by any of Sellers or their respective Affiliates, would have been paid, performed or discharged on or prior to the Closing Date or to the extent any such Liabilities relate to or arise out of any such breach or default; and
- (v) all accounts payable of Sellers to third parties in connection with the Purchased Assets, including Inventory and the DFW Facility construction, that remain unpaid as of the Closing Date and the payment of which is not delinquent, except to the extent any such Liabilities, but for a breach or default by any of Sellers or their respective Affiliates, would have been paid, performed or discharged on or prior to the Closing Date or to the extent any such Liabilities relate to or arise out of any such breach or default.
- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of <u>Section 2.2(a)</u> or other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, it is expressly understood and agreed that Buyer does not assume nor shall it be liable or responsible to pay, perform or discharge any Liabilities of Sellers or any of their Affiliates of any kind or nature other than the Assumed Liabilities, including (the "**Excluded Liabilities**"):
- (i) all Liabilities relating to or arising out of the manufacture, marketing, sale, or distribution of the products manufactured at the Facilities prior to the Closing, whether arising under warranty, contract, equity, tort, strict liability, product liability, statute or otherwise;
- (ii) all Liabilities relating to or arising out of any claims, causes of action, or Actions relating to or arising out of the operation of the Facilities or the ownership of the Purchased Assets prior to the Closing;
 - (iii) any Indebtedness of Sellers or any of their Affiliates;
 - (iv) any Liabilities relating to an Excluded Asset;
- (v) except as set forth in <u>Section 5.10</u>, any Liabilities related to or arising out of any Seller's employment of the Affected Employees, to the extent arising prior to the Closing Date;
- (vi) any Taxes (i) of Sellers and any of their Affiliates, whether arising before, on, or after the Closing Date, (ii) relating to the Purchased Assets or the Business that are attributable to any taxable period (or portion thereof, as determined pursuant to Section 5.11(c)) ending on or prior to the Closing Date, or (iii) that are Transfer Taxes required to be borne by Sellers pursuant to Section 5.11(a);
- (vii) all Liabilities relating to or arising out of any Contracts of Sellers and their respective Affiliates that are not Transferred Contracts, including any Liabilities relating to or arising from the termination or breach of any such Contract

- (viii) the outstanding purchase orders set forth on Schedule 3.6(h)(1.3) and Schedule 3.6(h)(2) of the Disclosure Schedules; and
- (ix) any Liabilities of Seller under this Agreement and the other Acquisition Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
- 2.3 **Payment of Purchase Price**. In consideration for the sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance and delivery of the Purchased Assets to Buyer, at the Closing, Buyer shall pay to Sellers the Purchase Price as follows:
- (a) Sellers shall receive a credit in an amount equal to the Integrated Assets Value for the Ogden Facility as prepayment for Sellers' future right to use the Integrated Assets for so long as the Shared Services Agreement for the Ogden Facility is in effect, and Sellers shall receive a credit in an amount equal to the Integrated Assets Value for the DFW Facility as prepayment for Sellers' future right to use the Integrated Assets for so long as the Shared Services Agreement for the DFW Facility is in effect;
- (b) Sellers shall receive a credit in the amount of the DFW Amount, as prepayment for Sellers' allocated share of capital expenditures for future Joint Matters (as defined in <u>Exhibit 5.6</u>) in connection with the construction and development of the DFW Facility (as contemplated in <u>Exhibit 5.6</u>);
 - (c) Deliver to Sellers the Seller Note; and
- (d) an amount in cash, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, equal to the Purchase Price minus (i) the amounts set forth in Section 2.3(a) and Section 2.3(b) above and (ii) the amount of the Seller Note, to one or more accounts which shall have been designated by the Sellers at least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date; and
 - (e) assume the Assumed Liabilities.
- 2.4 Closing. The sale and purchase of the Purchased Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities (the "Closing") shall take place via electronic exchange of signatures no earlier than thirty (30) days following the date hereof and no later than three (3) Business Days after the conditions set forth in Article VI have been satisfied or waived by Buyer and Sellers (excluding the conditions that by their nature can only be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction of such conditions at the Closing or the waiver of such conditions by the Party or Parties entitled to the benefit thereof) or on such other date, and at such other time and place, as may be agreed in writing by Buyer and Sellers. The date on which Closing occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the "Closing Date". Notwithstanding the actual occurrence of the Closing at any particular time on the Closing Date, the Closing shall be deemed to have occurred and be effective as of 12:01 a.m. (Eastern Time) on the Closing Date (the "Closing Time").
- 2.5 Allocation of Purchase Price. Sellers and Buyer agree that the Purchase Price and any other amounts payable by Buyer to Sellers in respect of the Purchased Assets pursuant to this Agreement (and any assumed Liabilities and other items as determined for U.S. federal income Tax purposes) will be allocated among the Purchased Assets for all Tax purposes in accordance with their respective fair market values pursuant to an allocation schedule prepared by Sellers and delivered to Buyer no later than thirty (30) days after the Closing Date in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code, the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and the methodology set forth on Schedule 2.5 attached hereto (the "Allocation Schedule"). Buyer shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of Sellers' determination of the Allocation Schedule, provide written notice to Sellers if Buyer disagrees with Sellers' determination, and if Buyer does not so provide written notice to Sellers within such thirty (30) day period, the Allocation Schedule shall be final and binding on the Parties. If Buyer provides written notice to Sellers that Buyer disagree with the

Allocation Schedule and Sellers do not accept Buyer's comments, Buyer and Sellers shall make a good faith effort to resolve any such dispute. Except as may be required by applicable Law, the Parties will: (i) file or cause to be filed all Tax Returns (including IRS Form 8594) in a manner consistent with the Allocation Schedule (as determined pursuant to this Section 2.5); and (ii) not take any action inconsistent therewith. Any adjustments to the Purchase Price or other amounts payable by Buyer to Sellers pursuant to this Agreement subsequent to the initial delivery of the Allocation Schedule by Buyer to Sellers shall be reflected in amendments to the Allocation Schedule in a manner consistent with Treasury Regulation Section 1.1060-1(c).

- 2.6 **Prorations.** At Closing, Buyer and Sellers shall reimburse each other, as appropriate, for all personal property Taxes, if any, and utility expenses and assessments related to any tangible personal property and the Leased Real Property included in the Purchased Assets, which shall be prorated on the basis of the number of days of the relevant time period which have elapsed through the Closing, with Sellers being responsible for that portion relating to the period prior to and as of the Closing Date and Buyer being responsible for that portion relating to the period after the Closing Date. At Closing, Buyer shall reimburse Sellers for any security deposits paid by Sellers pursuant to the terms of the Leases.
- 2.7 **Withholding.** Buyer shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement, including the Purchase Price, such amounts as may be required to be deducted and withheld from or with respect to such payments under the Code or other applicable Law relating to Taxes. To the extent that amounts are so deducted and withheld and paid to (or deposited with) the appropriate Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable Law, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction or withholding was made.

ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS

Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedules, Sellers hereby, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to Buyer as set forth below.

- 3.1 **Organization.** Each Seller is a corporation, duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Each Seller has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its assets (including the Purchased Assets) and to carry on its business at the Facilities as it is now being conducted and is in good standing in the jurisdictions in which the ownership of its property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification or license, except where the failure to be so qualified or licensed would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- Agreements to which it is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by each Seller of this Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which it is a party and the consummation by such Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action of such Seller. This Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which each Seller is a party have been duly executed and delivered by such Seller and, assuming due execution and delivery by each of the other parties hereto and thereto, this Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which such Seller is a party constitute, the legal, valid and binding obligations of such Seller, enforceable against such Seller in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy,

insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at Law).

3.3 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

- (a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.3(a), the execution, delivery and performance by each Seller of this Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which such Seller is a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will not violate, conflict with, result in a breach, cancellation, or termination of, constitute a default under, result in the creation of any Lien on any of the Purchased Assets, or result in a circumstance that, with our without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute any of the foregoing under (i) the Organizational Documents of such Seller, (ii) any Law applicable to such Seller or by which any of the Purchased Assets is bound or affected, (iii) any Transferred Contract to which Seller is a party or by which Seller, or any of their respective properties or assets is bound, nor do any of the foregoing in this clause (iii) require any consent, approval or authorization of, or filing with or notification to, any Person pursuant to, or give to others any rights of termination, acceleration or cancellation of, result in any obligation or loss of a benefit under, allow the imposition of any fees or penalties under, give rise to any increased guaranteed, accelerated or additional rights or entitlements of any Person under any Transferred Contract, (iv) any Permit, including Environmental Permit, held by such Seller, except in the case of each of clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), where such violation, conflict, breach, cancellation, termination or default has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material detrimental effect on the Business.
- (b) Neither Seller is required to file, seek or obtain any notice, authorization, approval, Order, permit or consent of or with any Governmental Authority in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by such Seller of this Agreement or any other Acquisition Agreements to which it is a party or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except where such failure to obtain such consent, approval, authorization or action, or to make such filing or notification, has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material detrimental effect on the Business.
- 3.4 **Title; Sufficiency and Condition of Assets.** Sellers have good and valid title to, own and lawfully possess, or have a valid leasehold interest in, all of the Purchased Assets, free and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens. The Purchased Assets constitute all of the properties and assets used in or necessary to conduct the Business as currently conducted. None of the Excluded Assets are material to the Business. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u>, the tangible Purchased Assets, including the Furnishings & Equipment, are (i) structurally sound, (ii) free of material defects, (iii) in good operating condition and repair, (iv) adequate for the uses to which they are being put, and (v) not in need of maintenance or repairs except for ordinary, routine maintenance and repairs that are not material in nature or cost.
- 3.5 **Inventory.** The Inventory (i) is owned directly by Sellers and none of the Inventory is vested in any Affiliate of Sellers or any other Person, nor is any of the Inventory held by Sellers on consignment, (ii) except for defects in limited quantities consistent with normal industry standards and disclosed to the Buyer, the Inventory is in good, merchantable and usable condition, and (iii) is of quantity and a quality commercially usable and salable in the ordinary course of business, consistent with Sellers' historical business practices.
- 3.6 **Absence of Certain Changes.** Except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, from June 30, 2022 until the date hereof, Sellers have operated the Business and the Facilities in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice in all material respects and there has not been any:

- (a) effect that has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect;
- (b) sale or any other disposition of any of the Purchased Assets except for any Purchased Assets having an aggregate value exceeding ten thousand dollars (\$10,000);
- (c) any material loss, destruction, damage or eminent domain taking (in each case, whether or not insured) affecting the Business or any material Purchased Asset that has not been repaired and is not now in good operational working order;
- (d) cancellation of any debts or claims or amendment, termination or waiver of any rights constituting Purchased Assets, except in the ordinary course of business;
- (e) adoption of any plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or filing of a petition in bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consent to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against it under any similar Law;
 - (f) write up or write down of any material Purchased Assets;
- (g) acceleration, termination, material modification or amendment to or cancellation of any Transferred Contract or Permit; or
 - (h) agreement to do any of the foregoing, or any action or omission that would result in any of the foregoing.

3.7 Compliance with Law; Permits.

- (a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.7(a), since the Look-Back Date, the Business has been and is operated, and Sellers own and have owned, or have had and have a valid leasehold interest in, and operate and have operated the Purchased Assets in compliance in all material respects with all Laws applicable to Sellers, the Business and the Purchased Assets. Since the Look-Back Date, neither Seller has received any written or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, oral notice from a Governmental Authority that Sellers are not, in respect of the Business or the Purchased Assets, in compliance with any applicable Law.
- (b) Each Seller is in possession of all material permits, licenses, franchises, approvals, certificates, consents, waivers, concessions, exemptions, Orders, registrations, notices or other authorizations of any Governmental Authority necessary for the operation of the Facilities as currently conducted (the "Permits"). All Permits are in full force and effect and Sellers have performed all of their obligations under and are, and have been since the Look-Back Date, in material compliance with all such Permits. Sellers have not received any written or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, oral notification from any Governmental Authority (i) threatening to revoke, suspend or cancel any Permit used in connection with the Business at the Facilities or (ii) indicating or alleging that a Seller does not possess any Permit required to own, lease, and operate the Purchased Assets or to conduct the Business as currently conducted.
- (c) No representation or warranty is made under this <u>Section 3.7</u> with respect to Taxes, which are covered exclusively by <u>Section 3.10</u>.
- 3.8 **Litigation.** Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.8</u>, there is no, and since the Look-Back Date there has been no, material Action pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, by or against Sellers or any of their Representatives in connection with or arising out of any Purchased Assets or in respect of the Business. To the Knowledge of Sellers, there are no facts or circumstances which may give rise to any

such Action. The operation of the Business in not, and since the Look-Back Date has not been, subject to any Order. There are no Actions pending or threatened by or any against any Seller with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

3.9 Financial Statements and Records.

- (a) Set forth in <u>Schedule 3.9(a)</u> are: the management financial statement dated September 30, 2022, as amended to reflect the current accounts relating thereto, dated November 30, 2022 (the foregoing, collectively, the "**Financial Statements**"). The Financial Statements (i) are correct in all material respects, and (ii) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Business as of the respective dates thereof.
- (b) The Sellers do not have any Liabilities solely relating primarily to the Business and the operation of the Facilities, except: (i) such Liabilities reflected on, or reserved against in, the Financial Statements; (ii) such Liabilities that have arisen since the date of the Financial Statements in the ordinary course of business consistent with Sellers' past practice, none of which is a Liability resulting from or arising out of any breach of contract, breach of warranty, tort, infringement, misappropriation, or violation of Law; and (iii) such Liabilities set forth in Schedule 3.9(b).

3.10 Taxes.

- (a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.10, (i) all Tax Returns required to have been filed by either Seller with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business have been timely filed (taking into account any extension of time to file granted or obtained) and each such Tax Return is accurate in all material respects, (ii) all Taxes owed by Sellers in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business, whether or not shown to be payable on such Tax Returns, have been fully and timely paid, (iii) there are no Tax Liens on the Purchased Assets or the Business (other than Permitted Liens), and (iv) no Seller is a party to or bound by, nor has it any obligation under, any Tax sharing or similar agreement or arrangement.
- (b) None of the Tax Returns or other Tax filings of Sellers in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business has ever been audited or investigated by any Governmental Authority. No proceeding by any Governmental Authority is pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened with respect to Taxes of Seller in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business. No position has been taken on any Tax Return of Sellers in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business for a taxable year for which the statute of limitations for the assessment of any Tax with respect thereto has not expired that is contrary to any publicly announced position of a Governmental Authority or that is substantially similar to any position which a Governmental Authority has successfully challenged in the course of an examination of a Tax Return of Sellers in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business.
- (c) Sellers have complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to the reporting, payment, and withholding of Taxes in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business and Sellers have timely withheld all Taxes which Sellers are required by Law to withhold or collect in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business, including sales and use taxes, goods and services taxes. All amounts required to be withheld for Taxes of any employee, independent contractor, creditor, customer, or other Person in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business have been duly withheld or collected and, to the extent required, have been paid over to the proper Governmental Authorities. All information returns required to be filed by Sellers in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business have been filed, and all statements required to be furnished to payees by Sellers in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business have been furnished to such payees, and the information set forth in such information returns and statements is accurate and complete.

- (d) Neither Seller is a "foreign person" as defined in section 1445(f)(3) of the Code.
- (e) None of the Purchased Assets includes interests in a joint venture, partnership or other arrangement or contract that could be treated as a partnership for federal income Tax purposes.
- (f) No power of attorney related or attributable to any Taxes is currently in effect with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business.
- (g) Sellers have not granted or been requested to grant any waiver of any statutes of limitations applicable to any claim for Taxes related to the Purchased Assets or the Business, and Sellers have not requested or been granted an extension of the time for filing any Tax Return related to the Purchased Assets or the Business.
- (h) No claim has been made by a Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where Tax Returns with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business are not filed asserting that either Seller is or may be subject to Tax in that jurisdiction. Sellers are not subject to taxation nor do they have any Tax filing obligations with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business in any jurisdiction outside of the United States.
- (i) Sellers have not requested or received a ruling from any Governmental Authority or signed a closing or other agreement with any Governmental Authority with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business which would impact the amount of Taxes due from Buyer after the Closing Date.

3.11 Material Contracts.

- (a) Complete and accurate copies of all written Transferred Contracts, or summaries of the material terms of all unwritten Transferred Contracts, have been made available to Buyer. With respect to each Transferred Contract:
- (i) each Transferred Contract is legal, valid and binding on such Seller and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, the other parties thereto, enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof;
 - (ii) each Transferred Contract is in full force and effect;
- (iii) no Seller is in default or breach under any Transferred Contract, and no Seller has received any written notice of a claimed breach;
 - (iv) no Seller has waived any of its rights under any Transferred Contract;
- (v) no Seller has received any written notice of termination of any Transferred Contract, nor has any Seller received any written notice of any facts or events that could reasonably be expected to result in any such termination;
- (vi) none of the rights of Sellers under the Transferred Contracts have been or will be impaired in any respect by the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
- (vii) to the Knowledge of Sellers, no other party to any Transferred Contract has breached or is in default thereunder and there does not exist any event or condition that, with or without the lapse of time or the giving of notice, would become such a breach or default or would cause the acceleration or any obligation thereunder.

(b) With respect to each Transferred Contract that relates primarily to the DFW Facility, <u>Schedule 3.11(b)</u> states the amounts that have been paid to date under each such Transferred Contract. Such Transferred Contracts are the only Transferred Contracts under which payments are owed in respect of the DFW Facility.

3.12 Real Property.

- (a) Schedule 3.12 sets forth each parcel of real property leased by Sellers and used in or necessary for the operation of the Facilities (together with all rights, title and interest of either Seller in and to leasehold improvements relating thereto, including security deposits, reserves or prepaid rents paid in connection therewith, collectively, the "Leased Real Property"). Sellers have made available to Buyer a true and complete list of all leases, subleases, licenses, concessions and other agreements (whether written or oral), including all amendments, extensions renewals, guarantees and other agreements with respect thereto, pursuant to which Sellers hold any Leased Real Property (collectively, the "Leases" and individually a "Lease"). With respect to each Lease: (i) such Lease is valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect and free of all Liens except Permitted Liens, and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, each Seller enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession of the Leased Real Property; (ii) no Seller is in breach or default under such Lease, and no event has occurred or circumstance exists which, with the delivery of notice, passage of time or both, would constitute a breach or default by such Seller; (iii) each Seller has paid all rent currently due and payable under such Lease; (iv) neither Seller has received nor given any notice of any default or event that with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default by such Seller under any of the Leases and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, no other party is in default thereof, and no party to any Lease has exercised any termination rights with respect thereto; (v) no Seller has pledged, mortgaged or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or occupy such Leased Real Property or any portion thereof; (vi) no Seller has pledged, mortgaged or otherwise granted a Lien on its leasehold interest in any Leased Real Property and (vii) no brokerage commissions are due and payable, or will become due and payable, with respect to any Leased
- (b) The improvements on the Leased Real Property are structurally sound and none of the improvements are in need of maintenance or repairs except for ordinary, routine maintenance and repairs that are not material in nature or cost. To the Knowledge of Sellers, there are no defects to the improvements located on the Leased Real Property and all such items are in good operating condition and repair. Except as described on Section 3.12, all obligations of the landlord under the Leases to construct tenant improvements under the Leases have been performed in full and all monetary concessions from the landlord under the Leases have been paid in full. With respect to each Leased Real Property, the Sellers have not received written notice of any pending or threatened condemnation or eminent domain proceedings or their local equivalent affecting or relating to such Leased Real Property.

3.13 Intellectual Property.

- (a) The operation of the Ogden Facility, but excluding the portion of the Ogden Facility that is exclusively used in connection with Sellers' production of Oat Base, as currently and formerly conducted by Sellers does not infringe, misappropriate, misuse or otherwise violate, and has not, infringed, misappropriated, misused or otherwise violated, any Intellectual Property of any Person. Sellers have not received any written notice or assertion from any Person alleging any such infringement, misappropriation, misuse, or other violation.
- (b) Sellers have taken reasonable security measures in accordance with generally-accepted industry standards and applicable Law, and in any event no less than reasonable measures, against unauthorized disclosure, to protect the secrecy and confidentiality of the trade secrets, and confidential and proprietary information used in the Ogden Facility, but excluding the portion of the Ogden Facility that is

exclusively used in connection with Sellers' production of Oat Base, including entering into appropriate written confidentiality agreements, or binding obligations of confidentiality, with any Persons with access to such information, and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, no such information has been disclosed or otherwise accessed by any unauthorized Person or used in any unauthorized manner.

3.14 Environmental Matters.

- (a) The operations of Sellers with respect to the Facilities and the Purchased Assets are and have been in material compliance with all Environmental Laws. Seller has not received from any Person, with respect to the Facilities or the Purchased Assets, any: (i) Environmental Notice or Environmental Claim; or (ii) written request for information pursuant to Environmental Law, which, in each case, either remains pending, threatened in writing or otherwise unresolved, or is the source of ongoing obligations or requirements as of the Closing Date.
- (b) Sellers have obtained and are in material compliance with all Environmental Permits required for Sellers to operate the Facilities as currently conducted, and all such Environmental Permits are in full force and effect. Seller has not received from any Governmental Authority any written notice threatening or seeking to withdraw, revoke, terminate, suspend or adversely renew, amend or modify any of the Environmental Permits for the Facilities.
- (c) Neither Sellers nor, to the Knowledge of Sellers, any other Persons have caused or contributed to any Release of Hazardous Materials on the Leased Real Property or with respect to the Facilities (i) in contravention of Environmental Law; (ii) in an amount requiring cleanup or reporting under Environmental Law; or (iii) in a manner that would reasonably be expected to give rise to Liability under Environmental Law. Sellers have not received any Environmental Notice that any of the Purchased Assets or Leased Real Property has been contaminated with any Hazardous Material that would reasonably be expected to result in an Environmental Claim against, or a violation of Environmental Law or term of any Environmental Permit by, Sellers.
- (d) Sellers have not placed or stored any Hazardous Material on, in or under the Leased Real Property except in accordance with Environmental Laws and prudent industry practices, or installed any underground storage tanks on any of the Leased Real Property.
- (e) To the Knowledge of Sellers, there are no existing facts, events or conditions that would reasonably be expected to result in material capital expenditure after the Closing Date with respect to the Facilities and Purchased Assets to comply with Environmental Law or otherwise to prevent, hinder or limit the ability to operate the Facilities and Purchased Assets in material compliance with Environmental Law after the Closing Date.
- (f) Sellers have made available to Buyer copies of all environmental audits, assessments, investigations, reports, and other material environmental documents relating to the Facilities and the Purchased Assets that are in the possession, custody or control of Sellers or any of their Representatives.
- (g) The representations and warranties set forth in this <u>Section 3.14</u> are the Sellers' sole and exclusive representations and warranties regarding environmental matters.

3.15 Employment Matters.

(a) Sellers have delivered to Buyer a list of all persons who are employees employed by Sellers exclusively at either the Ogden Facility or DFW Facility as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, but excluding the Retained Employees (the "Facilities Employees"), including any employee who is on a

leave of absence of any nature, paid or unpaid, authorized or unauthorized, and sets forth for each such individual the following: (i) name; (ii) title or position (including whether full or part time); (iii) hire date; (iv) whether full-time or part-time and whether exempt or non-exempt; (v) whether covered by the terms of a collective bargaining or similar agreement or an employment or independent contractor agreement; (vi) whether absent from active employment and if so, the date such absence commenced, the reason for such absence, and the anticipated date of return to active employment; (vii) annual salary, hourly rate or fee arrangement, and if applicable, bonus target or other incentive compensation and (viii) accrued but unused vacation or paid time off.

- (b) Neither Seller is a party to, or bound by, any collective bargaining or other agreement with a labor organization representing any of the employees. Since the Look-Back Date, there has not been, nor, to the Knowledge of Sellers, has there been any threat of, any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, concerted refusal to work overtime or other similar labor activity or dispute affecting the Facilities Employees.
- (c) Sellers are in material compliance with all applicable Laws pertaining to employment and employment practices to the extent they relate to the Facilities Employees, including all Laws relating to labor relations, equal employment opportunities, fair employment practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits, immigration, wages, hours, overtime compensation, child labor, hiring, promotion and termination of employees, working conditions, meal and break periods, privacy, health and safety, workers' compensation, leaves of absence, immigration and unemployment insurance. All Facilities Employees classified as exempt under the Fair Labor Standards Act and state and local wage and hour laws are properly classified in all material respects. All independent contractors and consultants providing personal services to the Sellers have been properly classified as independent contractors for purposes of all Laws, including Laws with respect to employee benefits. There are no Actions against Sellers pending, or to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Authority or arbitrator in connection with the employment of any current or former Facilities Employee, including any claim relating to unfair labor practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, equal pay, wages and hours or any other employment related matter arising under applicable Laws.
- (d) The Sellers have investigated or reviewed all sexual harassment or other harassment, discrimination or retaliation allegations (that were made in writing, orally to a member of management or human resources personnel) of which it had knowledge since the Look-Back Date with regards to the Facilities Employees. With respect to each such allegation with potential merit, the Sellers have taken corrective action that is reasonably calculated to prevent further improper action
- (e) A Form I-9 has been completed and retained with respect to each current Facilities Employee and, where required by law, former Facilities Employees. Sellers have not been the subject of any audit or other action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, assessment or judgments nor, to the Knowledge of Sellers, have Sellers been the subject of an investigation, inquiry or other any audit or other action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, assessment or judgments from the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, including the Immigration and Customs Enforcement, (or any predecessor thereto, including the U.S. Customs Service or the Immigration and Naturalization Service) or any other immigration-related enforcement proceeding.

3.16 Employee Benefits.

(a) <u>Schedule 3.16</u> contains a true and complete list of all Employee Plans and indicates (i) each Employee Plan that covers any Facilities Employee or any former employee at the Facilities, or

any other current or former service provider with respect to the Facilities (the "Facilities Employee Plans") and (ii) whether such Facilities Employee Plan is provided by a Professional Employer Organization.

- (b) Each Facilities Employee Plan has been maintained, operated, funded, and administered in all material respects in accordance with its terms and with the applicable plan documents, applicable laws, statutes, orders, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, ERISA and the Code. There are no proceedings, actions, investigations, audits or claims (other than routine claims for benefits) pending or threatened with respect to any Facilities Employee Plan.
- (c) Each Facilities Employee Plan intended to be "qualified" within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter with respect to the qualified status of such plan and the tax-exempt status of each trust established thereunder, and there are no existing facts, circumstances or events that have occurred that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of any such plan or the tax-exempt status of any such trust.
- (d) No Employee Plan provides death, medical or other welfare-type benefits (whether or not insured), with respect to any current Facilities Employees or former employees at the Facilities or any other current or former service providers at the Facilities (or their dependents) beyond their termination of employment or service with such Seller, other than coverage mandated by applicable law the cost of which is fully paid by the covered individual.
- (e) No Employee Plan covering or formerly covering Facilities Employees or former employees at the Facilities is or was (i) a "defined benefit plan" as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA or any other plan subject to the funding requirements of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 or Title IV of ERISA, (ii) a multiemployer plan (as defined in ERISA Section 3(37)), (iii) a multiple employer plan (within the meaning of Code Section 413(c)), or (iv) a multiple employer welfare arrangement (as defined in ERISA Section 3(40)). No liability under Title IV of ERISA, including any liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, has been otherwise incurred by Sellers that has not been satisfied in full, and no condition exists that could reasonably be expected to present a material risk to Sellers incurring a material liability thereunder.
- (f) No Seller or third party has engaged in a prohibited transaction with respect to any Facilities Employee Plan in connection with which such Seller or third party reasonably could be subject to either a material civil penalty accessed pursuant to Section 409, 502(i) or 502(l) of ERISA or a material Tax imposed pursuant to Section 4975 of the Code. Each Seller has complied with the requirements of COBRA set forth in Code Section 4980B and ERISA Section 601 et seq., and all applicable regulations and rulings with respect to COBRA.
 - (g) No Liability with respect to any Employee Plan could reasonably be expected to become a liability of Buyer.
- (h) With respect to each Facilities Employee Plan, Sellers have made available to Buyer (i) a summary plan description, as applicable, or to the extent not applicable, a detailed written summary, (ii) all other material documents pursuant to which such Facilities Employee Plan is maintained, funded and administered, and (iii) the most recent determination letter received from the Internal Revenue Service. With respect to RSUs awarded to any Facilities Employee, Seller has made available to Buyer a table setting forth the number of RSUs and other pertinent information, including the vesting terms and vested status thereof. No Facilities Employees have any outstanding awards pursuant to the Incentive Plan other than RSUs, all of which have been disclosed to Buyer.

3.17 **Insurance Policies**. Schedule 3.17 sets forth a correct list of all policies of fire, liability, medical, workers' compensation, title, and other forms of insurance owned or held by Sellers and applicable to the Business or the Purchased Assets (collectively, the "**Insurance Policies**"). Sellers have provided to Buyer correct copies of all of the Insurance Policies. All of the Insurance Policies are valid, in full force and effect, and enforceable, all premiums thereunder have been paid in full, and no notice of cancellation or termination has been received by any Seller with respect to any of the Insurance Policies. Sellers are and have been in compliance with all such Insurance Policies. Taken together, the Insurance Policies (a) provide adequate insurance coverage for the Purchased Assets and the operation of the Business for all risks normally insured against by a Person carrying on the same business or businesses as the Business and for all risks to which the Business is normally exposed and (b) are sufficient for compliance with all (i) applicable Laws and (ii) Transferred Contracts. Schedule 3.17 also sets forth a correct list of all claims which have been made by or on behalf of the Business since the Look-Back Date under any of the Insurance Policies, including any claims that are currently pending.

3.18 Information Technology.

- (a) All Business IT Systems have been properly maintained, in all material respects, by technically competent personnel, in accordance with standards set by the manufacturers or otherwise in accordance with prudent industry standards, to ensure proper operation, monitoring, and use. The Business IT Systems are in good working condition to effectively perform all information technology operations necessary to conduct the Business as currently conducted and proposed to be conducted. Sellers have in place a commercially reasonable disaster recovery program, including providing for the regular back-up and prompt recovery of the data and information, necessary to the conduct of the Business (including such data and information that is stored on magnetic or optical media) without material disruption to, or material interruption in, the conduct of the Business.
- (b) Sellers have established, maintain, and are in material compliance with a written information security program covering the Business that (i) complies with all applicable privacy Laws, industry best practices, and applicable internal and public-facing privacy policies; (ii) includes and incorporates all administrative, technical, and physical security safeguards that are reasonable and appropriate to preserve the security, confidentiality, availability, and integrity of transactions, confidential or proprietary data of the Business and personal data in Sellers' possession or control; and (iii) are designed to protect against unauthorized use, access, interruption, modification, or corruption of such data, the Business IT Systems and the systems of any third party service providers that have access to any such data or Business IT Systems.
- (c) The Business IT Systems are sufficient for the current needs of the Business, including as to capacity and ability to process current peak volumes in a timely manner. Since the Look-Back Date, there has been no (i) material disruption, interruption, outage, or continued substandard performance affecting any Business IT System; (ii) to the Knowledge of Sellers, data security breach or other unauthorized use, access, interruption, modification, or corruption of any Business IT System; or (iii) to the Knowledge of Sellers, complaints from, notices from, Actions conducted, or claims asserted by any Person, including any Governmental Authority, against Sellers regarding (A) any actual or alleged security breach or other unauthorized use, access, interruption, modification, or corruption of any such data or any such Business IT System; (B) the collection or use of any such data; or (C) any violation of applicable privacy Laws or privacy policies.
- 3.19 **Material Suppliers**. Schedule 3.19 sets forth a correct list of the top ten (10) suppliers and vendors to Sellers in respect of the Business at the Ogden Facility (based on total amount purchased from such supplier or vendor) for the year ended December 31, 2021, and for the nine (9)-month period ended September 30, 2022 (each, a "**Material Supplier**"), showing the total amount of purchases by Sellers in

respect of the Business from each such Material Supplier during the applicable period and the percentage of the total amount of purchases by Seller in respect of the Business represented by such purchases. Since the Look-Back Date, there has been (a) no adverse change in the business relationship, or any material dispute, between any Seller and any Material Supplier, (b) no change in any material term or condition of any Transferred Contract with any Material Supplier, and (iii) no indication that any Material Supplier intends to reduce its sales to the Business or that any Material Supplier intends to terminate, not renew, or materially amend the terms and conditions of any Transferred Contract with a Seller. Since the Look-Back Date, no Material Supplier has made any breach of contract, indemnification, or similar claim against any Seller in respect of the Business.

3.20 **Brokers.** No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finders or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Acquisition Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Sellers.

ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer and Buyer Parent, hereby, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to Sellers as set forth below.

- 4.1 **Organization.** Buyer is a duly formed or incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the state of its formation and has all requisite organizational power and authority to own, lease and operate its assets and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted and as is proposed to be conducted after the Closing Date and is in good standing in the jurisdictions in which the ownership of its property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification or license, except where the failure to be so qualified or licensed would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect.
- 4.2 **Authority.** Buyer has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which it is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which it is a party and the consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary organizational action of Buyer. This Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which Buyer is a party have been duly executed and delivered by Buyer, as applicable, and, assuming due execution and delivery by each of the other parties hereto and thereto, this Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which Buyer is a party constitute, the legal, valid and binding obligations of Buyer enforceable against Buyer in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at Law).

4.3 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a) The execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and each of the other Acquisition Agreements to which it is a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will not, (i) conflict with or violate the Organizational Documents of Buyer, (ii) conflict with or violate any Law applicable to Buyer or by which any property or asset of Buyer is bound or affected, or (iii) conflict with, result in any breach of, constitute a default (or an event that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become a default) under, require any consent, approval or authorization of, or filing with or notification to, any Person pursuant to, or give to others any

rights of termination, acceleration or cancellation of, result in any obligation or loss of a benefit under, allow the imposition of any fees or penalties under, give rise to any increased, guaranteed, accelerated or additional rights or entitlements of any Person under any material contract or agreement to which Buyer is a party, except, in the case of clauses (ii) or (iii), for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect or that arise as a result of any factors or circumstances relating to Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates.

(b) Buyer is not required to file, seek or obtain any notice, authorization, approval, Order, permit or consent of or with any Governmental Authority in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement or any other Acquisition Agreements to which it is a party or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except where failure to obtain such consent, approval, authorization or action, or to make such filing or notification, would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect.

4.4 Buyer's Investigation and Reliance.

- (a) Buyer has conducted such investigation of the Facilities as it has deemed necessary in order to make an informed decision concerning the transactions contemplated hereby. Buyer has reviewed all of the documents, records, reports and other materials furnished by or on behalf of Sellers or identified in the Disclosure Schedules hereto and are familiar with the content thereof. Buyer acknowledges that it has had an opportunity to ask questions of the applicable officers and management of Sellers and that it has been given access to and have visited and examined the Facilities and are familiar with the condition thereof. Except for the representations and warranties provided in Article III of this Agreement, in all matters affecting the condition of the properties and assets and the contents of the documents, records, reports or other materials in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, Buyer is relying upon the advice and opinion offered by its agents, Representatives, experts and consultants.
- (b) In connection with Buyer's investigation of the Facilities, Buyer has received from Sellers and their Affiliates, Representatives, advisors and agents certain projections, forecasts and other forward looking information, including projected financial statements, projected cash flow items, future business plans and other forward-looking data related to the Business and/or prospects. Buyer acknowledges that (i) there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such projections, forecasts and plans and, accordingly, is not relying on them, (ii) is familiar with such uncertainties and are taking full responsibility for making their own evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of all projections, forecasts and plans so furnished to them, and (iii) shall not have any claim against anyone with respect to any of the foregoing. Accordingly, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer acknowledges that none of Sellers, their respective Affiliates, Representatives, advisors or agents has made any representation or warranty with respect to such future projections and other forward-looking information, data, forecasts and plans.
- 4.5 **Exclusivity of Representations and Warranties.** Except for the representations and warranties contained in <u>Article III</u>, Buyer acknowledges that neither Seller nor any other Person on behalf of such Seller makes any other express or implied representations or warranties with respect to such Seller, the Business, the Facilities or their operations, assets, Liabilities, conditions (financial or otherwise) or prospects, and each Seller hereby disclaims any other such representations or warranties and Buyer acknowledges that it has not relied on any such other representations or warranties. In particular, without limiting the foregoing disclaimer, neither Seller nor any other Person makes or has made on behalf of such Seller any representation or warranty to Buyer or any of its respective Affiliates with respect to (a) any financial projection, forecast, estimate, budget or prospect information relating to the Business or (b) except for the representations and warranties made by Sellers in Article III, any oral or written information

presented to Buyer or its respective Affiliates or Representatives in the course of their due diligence investigation of the Business, the negotiation of this Agreement or the other Acquisition Agreements or in the course of the transactions contemplated hereby.

4.6 Financial Capability.

- (a) Substantially in the from attached hereto as <u>Exhibit E</u> is a true, accurate and complete copy of the fully executed debt commitment letter dated as of the date hereof, including all amendments, exhibits, attachments, appendices and schedules thereto as of the date hereof (the "Commitment Letter") from the Financing Sources party thereto, relating to the commitment of such Financing Sources, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, with respect to the Financing; *provided, however*, that the provisions related to fees, "flex" provisions and other economic terms or commercially sensitive information in a copy of any fee letter delivered pursuant hereto may be redacted.
- (b) Except as expressly set forth in the Commitment Letter, as of the date hereof there are (i) no conditions precedent to the obligations of the counterparties thereto to provide the full amount of the Financing, and (ii) no contingencies that would permit the parties thereto to modify the terms and conditions of the Financing. Other than the Commitment Letter and any related fee letters, as of the date hereof there are no other Contracts or other undertakings between any of the providers of the Financing and/or their respective Affiliates, on the one hand, and Buyer and its Affiliates, on the other hand, with respect to the Financing.
- (c) As of the date hereof, assuming the conditions set forth in Section 6.1 are satisfied and the Financing is funded in accordance with the Commitment Letter, the Financing shall provide Buyer with acquisition financing on the Closing Date that, together with funds contributed by Buyer Parent, is sufficient to pay the aggregate consideration payable by Buyer on the Closing Date pursuant to Article II and all costs and expenses required to be paid by Buyer at the Closing.
- (d) As of the Closing Date, the Commitment Letter (i) will be in full force and effect and will be a legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligation of Buyer and, to the knowledge of Buyer, the Financing Sources in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at Law), and (ii) has not been withdrawn or terminated or otherwise amended or modified in any respect, and no amendment or modification thereof is contemplated. As of the Closing Date, Buyer will have fully paid any and all commitment fees or other fees in connection with the Commitment Letter that are payable on or prior to the date hereof. As of the Closing Date, neither Buyer nor, to the knowledge of Buyer, any other party to the Commitment Letter will be in default or breach of the Commitment Letter. As of the date hereof, assuming the conditions set forth in Sections 6.1(a), 6.1(b) and 6.1(d) are satisfied, Buyer has no reasonable reason to believe that the Financing will not be available in full on the Closing Date.
- (e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in no event shall the receipt or availability of any funds or the Financing by Buyer or any of its Affiliates or any other financing be a condition to any of Buyer's obligations under this Agreement.

4.7 Financial Statements and Records; No Undisclosed Liabilities.

(a) Set forth in <u>Schedule 4.7(a)</u> is the audited consolidated balance sheet of Buyer Parent, together with the audited statements of income, statements of cash flow and statements of partners' capital of Buyer Parent, for the fiscal year 2021 (the "**Buyer Financial Statements**"). The Buyer Financial Statements (i) have been prepared from the books and records of Buyer Parent in accordance with GAAP,

consistently applied, (ii) are correct in all material respects, and (iii) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Buyer Parent's business as of the respective dates thereof and for the respective periods covered thereby, subject, in the case of the unaudited Buyer Financial Statements, to normal recurring year-end adjustments (the effect of which will not, individually or in the aggregate, be material) and the absence of footnotes.

- (b) The Buyer Parent does not have any Liabilities, except: (i) Liabilities reflected on, or reserved against in, the Buyer Financial Statements; (ii) Liabilities that have arisen since the date of the Buyer Financial Statements in the ordinary course of business consistent with Buyer's past practice, none of which is a Liability resulting from or arising out of any breach of contract, breach of warranty, tort, infringement, misappropriation, or violation of Law; and (iii) Liabilities set forth in Schedule 4.7(b).
- 4.8 **Solvency**. Immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer and Buyer Parent shall be solvent and shall: (a) be able to pay its debts as they become due; and (b) have adequate capital to carry on its business. No transfer of property is being made and no obligation is being incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors of Buyer, Buyer Parent, or Sellers. In connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer and Buyer Parent has not incurred, nor plans to incur, debts beyond its ability to pay as they become absolute and matured.
- 4.9 **Litigation**. There is no Action pending or, to the knowledge of Buyer, threatened against Buyer or Buyer Parent which would reasonably be expected to affect Buyer's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Acquisition Agreements or otherwise impede prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE V COVENANTS

5.1 **Pre-Closing Covenants**.

- (a) From the date hereof through the earlier of the termination of this Agreement or the Closing, except as otherwise permitted by this Agreement or consented to by Buyer in writing, Sellers shall:
 - (i) operate the Business in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve all of the Sellers' certificates, Permits, and other authorizations and other rights issued by any Governmental Authority that are necessary to conduct and operate the Facilities in the ordinary course of business;
- (iii) continue to (i) maintain the payment of accounts payable and pay such accounts payable or other liabilities of Sellers in connection with the operation of the Facilities on the due date when the same would have been paid in the ordinary course of business, and (ii) perform in all material respects all of its obligations under the Transferred Contracts;
- (iv) maintain (i) the Purchased Assets in operating condition and repair for the purposes for which they are used, ordinary wear and tear excepted, consistent with past practices and (ii) equipment and Inventory at levels consistent with past practices;
- (v) maintain in full force and effect the insurance policies currently maintained on the Purchased Assets (or policies providing substantially the same coverage);

- (vi) fully comply with all applicable Laws and Permits, including all certification procedures and regulations.
- (b) Without limiting the provisions of <u>Section 5.1(a)</u>, from the date hereof through the earlier of the termination of this Agreement or the Closing, except (a) as otherwise permitted by this Agreement, or (b) as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.1(b)</u>, Sellers shall not, without the prior written consent of Buyer, not to be unreasonably withheld:
 - (i) dissolve, liquidate, restructure, merge or consolidate any Seller;
- (ii) modify, renew, terminate or assign any Transferred Contract to which such Seller is a party, or waive, release or assign any rights or claims thereunder, or violate any term of any such Transferred Contract (but excluding modifications in the ordinary course of business);
- (iii) sell, assign, transfer, lease, license, mortgage, pledge, encumber (or otherwise create, incur or permit the creation or incurrence of any Lien on) or otherwise dispose of any of the Purchased Assets (other than asset sales, transfers or dispositions in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice);
- (iv) hire any Facilities Employees (other than to fill vacancies for employees with annual base compensation below \$100,000, and then only in the ordinary course of business), or terminate (except for cause) the employment of any Facilities Employee with annual base compensation in excess of \$100,000.
- (v) modify, cancel, surrender, terminate, or suspend, or knowingly suffer to exist any modification, cancellation, surrender, termination or suspension of any Permit, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, unless such modification, cancellation, surrender, termination or suspension would have an adverse effect on the Business;
- (vi) enter into, adopt, or engage in negotiations regarding any collective bargaining agreement or similar collective labor agreement or arrangement;
- (vii) except as required by Law, change any of the policies, practices or procedures with respect to accounts payable (including any payment terms with respect to any vendor under any Transferred Contract);
- (viii) settle or seek to dismiss any Action relating to the Business involving (A) one or more payments of damages aggregating in excess of \$10,000, or (B) involving a finding or admission of a violation of Law;
- (ix) terminate, amend, or fail to renew any material Insurance Policy, other than in the ordinary course of business;
- (x) (A) except as required by applicable law, not amend, modify or terminate any Facilities Employee Plan or (B) enter into, establish, or adopt any new pension, retirement, incentive equity, stock option, stock purchase, phantom equity, savings, profit sharing, deferred compensation, consulting, bonus, severance, group insurance or other employee benefit plan or arrangement in respect of any Facilities Employee;
- (xi) file any amended Tax Return, enter into any closing agreement with respect to Taxes, settle or compromise any audit or other proceeding relating to Taxes, surrender any right

to claim a Tax refund or other reduction of Taxes, consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment, in each case with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business; or

(xii) enter into any agreement or otherwise commit to take any actions described in the foregoing clauses.

5.2 **Third Party Consents.** Sellers and Buyer shall each use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Closing to occur as promptly as practicable after the Effective Date of this Agreement, including taking all actions necessary or advisable to obtain all third party consents required for the Purchased Assets to be transferred and conveyed to Buyer as contemplated by this Agreement and shall cooperate with each other in obtaining such consents, including promptly providing the other party such financial reports and other information as are reasonably necessary to such consents. Without limiting the foregoing, Buyer shall use diligent, commercially reasonable efforts to establish a system for payroll administration and processing for the Affected Employees as promptly as practicable after the Effective Date of this Agreement.

5.3 Notification of Certain Matters; Disclosure Schedules Supplement.

- (a) From the Effective Date of this Agreement, until the Closing Date, Sellers and Buyer shall give the other Parties hereto prompt written notice of: (a) any event, change or occurrence that (i) causes, or would reasonably be expected to cause, any representation or warranty of such Party set forth in this Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect or (ii) causes, or would reasonably be expected to cause, such Party to fail to perform or comply with, in any material respect, any covenant or agreement of such Party in this Agreement; and (b) any Action commenced or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened against or otherwise affecting such Party with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Agreement.
- (b) From the Effective Date of this Agreement through the end of the day immediately prior to five (5) business days prior to the Closing Date (such period, the "Schedule Supplement Period"), Sellers shall have the right (but not the obligation) to supplement or amend the Disclosure Schedule with respect to any matter arising after the Effective Date by providing written notice thereof within the Schedule Supplement Period (each such timely notice, a "Schedule Supplement").
- (c) No such Schedule Supplement shall be deemed to cure any breach of the applicable representations and warranties, unless:
- (i) such Schedule Supplement relates to an event or development that occurred on or after the Effective Date and only to the extent such event, condition, fact or circumstance underlying such Schedule Supplement did not involve or result from a material violation of law, tort or breach of contract on the part of Sellers; and
- (ii) the event, condition, fact or circumstance underlying such Schedule Supplement has or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect; and
- (iii) Buyer elects not to exercise its termination remedy in connection with such Schedule Supplement, in which case, upon Closing, such Schedule Supplement will be effective to cure and correct for all other purposes any breach of, or inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty which would have existed if such Schedule Supplement had not been made.

- 5.4 Exclusivity. From the Effective Date of this Agreement until the Closing Date, Sellers shall not, and shall cause their respective Affiliates and Representatives not to, directly or indirectly, (a) solicit, initiate, or encourage the submission of any proposal or offer from any other Person relating to a potential transaction involving the direct or indirect sale or transfer (whether by asset sale or a change of control of a Seller) of any portion of the Purchased Assets, other than sales of inventory in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (a "Competing Transaction"), (b) participate in or continue any activities, discussions, or negotiations regarding a Competing Transaction, (c) provide information regarding the Business or any Purchased Asset to, or enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle or Contract with, any Person, other than Buyer and its Representatives, in connection with a possible Competing Transaction or (d) otherwise resolve, propose or agree to do any of the foregoing. Sellers shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates and Representatives to, immediately cease any existing activities, discussions, and negotiations with any other Person with respect to any of the foregoing. Sellers shall immediately advise Buyer orally and in writing of the receipt by Sellers or any of its Representatives of any oral or written communication, proposal, offer, or inquiry from any other Person regarding a Competing Transaction, including the identity of the Person making the same and the material terms and conditions of any proposal or offer.
- 5.5 Access, From the Effective Date until the Closing Date, unless otherwise extended by Sellers in writing, Sellers shall (a) afford Buyer and its Representatives reasonable access to and the right to inspect all of the Purchased Assets; (b) furnish Buyer and its Representatives with such financial, operating and other data and information related to the Facilities as Buyer or any of its Representatives may reasonably request; and (c) instruct the Representatives of Sellers to cooperate with Buyer, in each case for the sole purpose of completing Buyer's due diligence review of the Business; provided, however, that any such investigation shall be conducted during normal business hours upon reasonable advance notice to Sellers, under the supervision of Sellers' personnel and in such a manner as not to unreasonably interfere with the normal conduct of the Business or any other businesses of Sellers. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Sellers shall not be required to disclose any information to Buyer or any of its Representatives if such disclosure would, in Sellers' reasonable determination: (x) cause any applicable attorney-client or attorney work product privilege to be waived; or (y) violate any Law applicable to Sellers or the Business; provided, however, that, in the event Sellers restrict disclosure under the foregoing clause (x) or clause (y), Sellers will take commercially reasonable steps to provide such information (or as much of it as shall be reasonably possible) solely to the extent doing so would not reasonably be expected to violate applicable Law or cause the waiver of such privilege. Prior to the Closing, without the prior written consent of Sellers, which may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, Buyer shall not (i) contact any suppliers to, or clients or customers of, Sellers or any of their subsidiaries or other affiliates, nor (ii) perform invasive or subsurface investigations of Sellers' Leased Real Property. Buyer understands and agrees that no vendor, representative, consultant, or independent contractor of Sellers, any of their subsidiaries or other affiliates may be contacted by Buyer without the prior express written consent of Sellers. Buyer shall, and shall direct its Representatives to, abide by the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement with respect to any access or information provided pursuant to this Section 5.5. Buyer shall be responsible for and shall indemnify Sellers for any and all damages caused to the Leased Real Property as a result of Buyer's due diligence investigation.
- 5.6 **Construction.** As a material inducement to Seller's execution of this Agreement and the Closing of transactions contemplated in this Agreement, Buyer agrees that Buyer will manage and oversee the completion of the DFW Facility in the manner set forth on <u>Exhibit 5.6</u>. In connection therewith, Buyer shall reasonably exercise the rights of Sellers under the DFW Facility construction contracts that are among the Transferred Contracts.
- 5.7 **Retained Marks.** Sellers are not conveying ownership rights or granting Buyer a license under this Agreement to use any of the Retained Names and Marks.

- 5.8 **Confidentiality.** Each of the Parties shall hold, and shall direct its Representatives to hold, in confidence all documents and information furnished to it by or on behalf of the other Parties in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreements pursuant to the Confidentiality Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect.
- 5.9 **Public Announcements.** No Party shall, and each Party shall cause its respective Representatives not to, issue any press release or otherwise make any public statements or disclosures with respect to this Agreement, including the terms hereof, and the transactions contemplated hereby, except (a) with the prior written consent of each of Buyer and Sellers, (b) to the extent required by applicable Law or the rules of any securities exchange on which a Party's or a Party's Affiliates securities are traded, or (c) for announcements or disclosures by Buyer and its Affiliates to any such Person's investors, potential investors, lenders and annual meeting invitees if such information is of a nature customarily conveyed to investors, potential investors, lenders and annual meeting invitees; provided, that in the case of any disclosure pursuant to the foregoing clause (c), the Party issuing such press release or making such public statement, announcement or disclosure shall use commercially reasonable efforts to allow the other Parties reasonable time to comment on such release or statement in advance of its issuance and will consider in good faith the advice of such other Party or Parties with respect thereto.

5.10 Employee Matters.

- (a) The employees of the Business who are employed by Sellers and who are listed on <u>Schedule 5.10(a)</u> are the "**Affected Employees**."
- (b) Buyer shall offer to hire and employ, effective as of 12:01 a.m. on the Closing Date, each Affected Employee (which for the avoidance of doubt, includes any such Affected Employees who are absent due to vacation, sick leave, family leave, short-term disability, long-term disability or other approved leave of absence as of such date who are expected to return to active employment no later than three (3) months after the Closing Date) in a position with substantially the same duties and responsibilities.
- (c) As of the Closing, Sellers shall provide a true, complete, and correct list, by site of employment, of any and all Facilities Employees who, within ninety (90) days prior to the Closing Time, have experienced, or will experience, any employment loss or layoff as defined by the WARN Act. Sellers shall retain or assume all obligations and Liabilities for the provision of notice or payment in lieu of notice or any applicable penalties with respect to the Facilities Employees under such WARN Act or similar worker notification Laws arising as a result of actions taken by Sellers on or prior to the Closing Time. Buyer shall assume all obligations and Liabilities for the provision of notice or payment in lieu of notice or any applicable penalties with respect to the Affected Employees under such worker notification Laws arising as a result of actions taken by Buyer after Closing Time.
- (d) Following the Closing Date, Buyer shall provide each Affected Employee with (i) a base salary or rate of pay, target annual cash incentive compensation opportunity and target long-term incentive compensation opportunity (or the value thereof) each no less favorable than those in effect for such Affected Employee immediately prior to the Closing Date; and (ii) employee benefits (including retirement, health and welfare and other material fringe benefits) that are substantially similar in the aggregate to those in effect for such Affected Employee immediately prior to the Closing Date, excluding any equity-based arrangements, post-retirement or other post-termination welfare benefits, and defined benefit pension plans.
- (e) Nothing in this <u>Section 5.10</u>, express or implied, is intended to confer on any Person (including any Affected Employees and any current or former employees of Sellers or their respective Affiliates, as applicable), other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, any

rights, benefits, remedies, obligations or liabilities (including any third-party beneficiary rights) under or by reason of this <u>Section 5.10</u>. Accordingly, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this <u>Section 5.10</u>, the parties expressly acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is not intended to create a contract between Buyer, Sellers, or any of their respective Affiliates, on the one hand, and any employee of any Seller on the other hand, and no employee of Sellers may rely on this Agreement as the basis for any breach of contract claim against Buyer, Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates. Nothing in this <u>Section 5.10</u> shall constitute an amendment to or modification of any employee benefit plan or other compensation or benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement.

5.11 Tax Matters.

- (a) Any and all sales, use, value added, transfer, stamp, registration, documentary, excise, real property transfer or gains, mortgage, recordation or similar Taxes and all conveyance fees, and other fees and charges (including all interest and penalties and additions imposed with respect to such amounts) incurred in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement ("Transfer Taxes") shall be borne one-half (1/2) by Buyer and on-half (1/2) by Sellers. The Party customarily responsible under applicable Law shall file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to all such Transfer Taxes and the Parties shall reasonably cooperate in duly and properly preparing any such Tax Returns and other documentation required to be filed in connection with such Transfer Taxes. The Party responsible for filing any such Tax Returns shall provide to the other Party evidence of timely filing and payment of all such Transfer Taxes. The Parties agree to timely sign and deliver (or cause to be timely signed and delivered) such certificates or forms as may be necessary or appropriate and otherwise to cooperate to establish any available exemption from (or otherwise reduce) such Transfer Taxes.
- (b) Sellers shall, at Sellers' expense, prepare, or cause to be prepared, and file, or cause to be filed, all Income Tax Returns of Sellers related to the Purchased Assets or the Business for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods regardless of when they are to be filed. Buyer shall prepare and file, or cause to be prepared and filed, all other Tax Returns related to the Purchased Assets or the Business. With respect to Straddle Period Tax Returns for non-Income Taxes, Buyer shall deliver such completed, but unfiled, Straddle Period Tax Returns to Sellers for their review and comment at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date of such Straddle Period Tax Returns, as extended. Buyer and Sellers agree to consult with each other and to resolve in good faith any timely-raised issue arising as a result of the review of such Straddle Period Tax Returns to permit the filing of such Straddle Period Tax Returns as promptly as possible. Sellers shall pay, or cause to be paid, to Buyer within fifteen (15) days after the date on which a Straddle Period Tax Return is filed an amount equal to the portion of the Taxes attributable to the portion of such Tax period ending on the Closing Date as determined pursuant to Section 5.11(c).
- (c) For purposes of this Agreement, in the case of any Taxes that are imposed for a Straddle Period, the portion of such Taxes attributable to the portion of such Tax period ending as of the Closing Date (i) in the case of any property or ad valorem Taxes, shall be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the entire Tax period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the Tax period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of days in the entire Straddle Period, and (ii) in the case of all other Taxes, will be deemed equal to the amount which would be payable as computed on a closing of the books basis if the relevant Tax period ended on the Closing Date.
- (d) Sellers and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate, and shall cause their respective Affiliates, officers, employees, agents, auditors and Representatives reasonably to cooperate, in connection with the preparation and filing of all Tax Returns, any audit or other examination by any Governmental Authority, or any judicial or administrative proceedings relating to liability for Taxes, including maintaining and making available to each other all records necessary in connection with Taxes, and each shall retain

and provide the requesting Party with any records or information which may be relevant to such Tax Return, audit or examination, proceedings or determination.

5.12 **Further Assurances.** From and after the Closing Date, (a) at the request of Buyer and without further consideration, Sellers shall promptly (i) execute and deliver to Buyer such certificates and other instruments of sale, conveyance, assignment and transfer and take such other action as may reasonably be requested by Buyer more effectively to confirm any obligation assumed by Buyer and to sell, convey, assign and transfer to and vest in Buyer, or to put Buyer in possession of, the Purchased Assets and the Transferred Contracts, as contemplated by this Agreement, and to carry out the purpose of Acquisition Agreements, and (ii) take all actions reasonably necessary between the Effective Date and the Closing, to cause the economic development agreements set forth on Schedules 2.1(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules to be assigned to the Buyer, and (b) at the request of Sellers and without further consideration, Buyer shall promptly execute and deliver to Sellers such certificates and other instruments of assumption and take such other action as may reasonably be requested by Sellers more effectively to confirm and carry out the assumption by Buyer of the Transferred Contracts, as contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out the purpose of the Acquisition Agreements.

5.13 Restrictive Covenants.

- (a) For a period of two (2) years following the Closing Date, neither Seller shall solicit, induce, or recruit any Affected Employee to terminate their employment with Buyer. Nothing in this <u>Section 5.13(a)</u> shall limit or otherwise prohibit the Sellers from initiating any solicitations or searches for employees or consultants that are not targeted or focused on the Affected Employees.
- (b) During the Restricted Period, no Seller shall, and each Seller shall cause its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, make any public statement disparaging the Business, Buyer or any of its Affiliates or any of Buyer's or its Affiliates' respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees or agents; *provided, however*, that this provision is not applicable to (i) truthful testimony obtained through subpoena, (ii) any truthful information provided pursuant to investigation by any Governmental Authority or required to be provided pursuant to applicable Law, or (iii) any truthful information provided pursuant to any legal action under this Agreement or any of the other transaction documents contemplated thereunder asserted in good faith.
- (c) During the Restricted Period, Buyer and Buyer Parent shall not, and shall cause their Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, make any public statement disparaging the Oat Base Facility, either Seller or any of their Affiliates or any Seller or its Affiliates' respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees or agents; *provided, however*, that this provision is not applicable to (i) truthful testimony obtained through subpoena, (ii) any truthful information provided pursuant to investigation by any Governmental Authority or required to be provided pursuant to applicable Law, or (iii) any truthful information provided pursuant to any legal action under this Agreement or any of the other transaction documents contemplated thereunder asserted in good faith.
- (d) The nature and scope of the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.13 have been carefully considered by the Parties. The Parties agree and acknowledge that (i) the duration, scope and geographic areas applicable to such provisions are fair, reasonable and necessary to protect the goodwill of the Business and each Party from and after Closing, and (ii) adequate compensation has been received by each Party for such obligations. Each Party agrees that it will not assert or claim, or raise as a defense, in any judicial proceeding or otherwise, that any of such provisions are unenforceable as a matter of public policy or that any of the duration, scope and geographic areas applicable to such provisions is or was not fair, reasonable or necessary or that adequate compensation was not received by such Party for such obligations; provided, however, that this sentence in no way limits any other defense that may be available

to any Party. The Parties further agree and acknowledge that if for any reason any court determines that any such provisions are or were not fair, reasonable or necessary or that consideration was inadequate, the Parties shall negotiate to modify such provisions to include as much of the duration, scope and geographic area identified in this <u>Section 5.13</u> as will render such restrictions valid and enforceable.

5.14 Transition Service.

- (a) Upon the Closing, Sellers and Buyer will negotiate a commercially reasonable, mutually agreed form of Transition Services Agreement (the "TSA"), in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, pursuant to which Sellers agree to provide, or to cause their Affiliates to provide, materials and supplies purchasing and certain other specified services that are necessary for the operation of the Business by Buyer after the Closing and which are not able to be obtained through the use of the Purchased Assets (the "TSA Services"), at a price no greater than the actual out-of-pocket cost of such TSA Services to Sellers as necessary to allow Buyer to continuing operating the Business as it was operated immediately prior to (and during the twelve (12) month period prior to) the Closing.
- (b) Buyer agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to make a transition of each TSA Service to its own internal organization or to obtain alternate third-party sources to provide the TSA Services as soon as possible following the Closing, and in event no later than December 31, 2023, other than the provision of Manufacturer Materials under the Co-Pack Agreement, which services are intended to be provided for a period of up to one (1) year following the Closing Date. Upon the conclusion of the TSA Services associated with the provision of Manufacturer Materials under the Co-Pack Agreement: (x) Buyer will buy, and Seller will sell, all then-remaining Inventory at Seller's laid-in cost; and (y) Seller will assign and transfer to Buyer (as additional Transferred Contracts), and Buyer will assume, a mutually agreed list of applicable vendor contracts and purchase commitments for the procurement of Manufacturer Materials.
- 5.15 **Misdirected Payments and Assets**. From and after the Closing Date, if either Party or any of its Affiliates receives payment from any Person in respect of an account receivable or other payment owed to the other Party or any Affiliate of the other Party, or is in possession of any assets (including, in the case of Sellers or any of their Affiliates, any Purchased Asset or, in the case of Buyer or any of its Affiliates, any Excluded Asset) as to which the other Party or any Affiliate of the other Party is entitled or to which the other Party or any Affiliate of the other Party is entitled to the benefit thereof, such Party shall cause the Person receiving such payment or having possession of such asset to promptly remit such payment to the designated bank account of the owner of such receivable or payment or otherwise cause the transfer, assignment, conveyance, and delivery of such asset to the other Party or its designated Affiliate, in each case without the payment of any additional consideration.

5.16 Financing Cooperation.

(a) Prior to the Closing, Sellers shall use their reasonable best efforts to cause their respective Representatives to, provide customary cooperation and customary financial information, in each case that is reasonably requested by Buyer in connection with any debt financing (the "Financing") obtained or to be obtained by Buyer or any of its Affiliates for the purpose of financing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Acquisition Agreements, including by (i) having senior management, including, senior executive officers, assist in the preparation for, and participate in, a reasonable number of lender meetings, presentations and calls and a reasonable number of meetings, in each case, in connection with obtaining the Financing, (ii) facilitating negotiations between Buyer and the Financing Sources, (iii) assisting with the preparation of confidential information memoranda, business projections and similar marketing documents required in connection with the Financing, including providing customary authorization letters related thereto, (iv) requesting the

pay-off letters referenced in <u>Section 6.1(g)(vi)</u> and other customary documents, including, customary lien releases and instruments of termination or discharge, (v) supplementing, at Buyer's reasonable request, the information covered by this <u>Section 5.16</u> on a reasonably current basis (and identifying any portion of the information covered by this <u>Section 5.16</u> that constitutes material non-public information) if such supplement is reasonably necessary to ensure that such information does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make such information not misleading, and (vi) providing all such other reasonable assistance as is reasonably necessary or convenient in order for Buyer to satisfy all of the conditions to the consummation of the Financing.

- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Seller shall be required to (i) become subject to any obligations or liabilities with respect to the Financing, (ii) provide cooperation under this Section 5.16 that would cause any representation or warranty in this Agreement to be breached or would cause any condition to Closing contemplated by Article VI to fail to be satisfied, (iii) pay any commitment or other similar fee or enter into any definitive agreement or incur any other liability or obligation of any kind prior to the Closing, (iv) take any action that would conflict with, violate or result in a material breach of or default under any organizational document of any Seller or any applicable Law, or (v) take any action that would reasonably be expected to subject any director, manager, officer or employee of any Seller or any of their respective subsidiaries to any personal liability.
- (c) Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless Sellers, their respective subsidiaries, and each of their respective Representatives from and against any and all liabilities or losses suffered or incurred by them in connection with the Financing and any information utilized in connection therewith, except in the event such liabilities or losses arose out of or result from (i) the willful misconduct, gross negligence or bad faith of Sellers, any of their respective subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives, (ii) the breach by Sellers of any of their obligations under this Agreement or any other Acquisition Agreement or (iii) any material misstatement or omission in information provided in writing hereunder by or on behalf of Sellers, any of their respective subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives for use in connection with the Financing (clauses (i) through (iii) collectively, the "Indemnity Exceptions").

ARTICLE VI CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

- 6.1 **Conditions to Obligations of Buyer to Close.** The obligations of Buyer hereunder to proceed with the Closing are subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing of each of the following conditions, unless otherwise waived in writing by Buyer:
- (a) Representations and Warranties. Each of (i) the representations and warranties of Sellers contained in this Agreement (other than the Fundamental Representations) shall be true and correct on and as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date (other than any representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date, which need be true and correct as of such specified date only), except to the extent that the failure of such representations and warranties of Sellers to be so true and correct on and as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date (or in respect of any representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date, as of such specified date only) has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all but *de minimis* respects on and as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date (other than any representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date, which need be true and correct as of such specified date only).
- (b) <u>Performance</u>. Sellers shall have duly performed or complied with all of the covenants, acts and obligations to be performed or complied with by Seller hereunder in all material respects at or prior to the Closing.

- (c) <u>Consents</u>. Sellers shall have received all consents and approvals set forth on <u>Schedule 6.1(c)</u>.
- (d) No Material Adverse Effect. Since the Effective Date of this Agreement, there shall not have been a Material Adverse Effect.
- (e) <u>No Legal Prohibition</u>. Neither Seller nor Buyer shall be subject to any Order, decree, or injunction of a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Authority and no Law shall be enacted or issued, in each case which enjoins, prevents or makes illegal any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (f) <u>Payroll and Benefits</u>. Buyer shall have established a system for payroll administration and processing for the Affected Employees.
 - (g) <u>Deliveries</u>. Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer:
- (i) a certificate from each Seller, dated as of the Closing Date, duly executed by an officer of such Seller, certifying that the conditions in Section 6.1(a), Section 6.1(b) and Section 6.1(d) have been satisfied with respect to such Seller;
- (ii) a certificate of good standing of each Seller, issued as of a date not more than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware;
- (iii) a counterpart to each Acquisition Agreement to which Sellers or any of their Affiliates is a party, duly executed and delivered by a duly authorized Representative of such Person;
- (iv) a duly executed certificate of non-foreign status from each Seller, dated as of the Closing Date, in form and substance required under Treasury Regulations issued pursuant to Section 1445 of the Code stating that it is not a "foreign person" as defined in Section 1445 of the Code:
- (v) evidence of the termination, as of the Closing, of all Liens, except Permitted Liens, on the Purchased Assets, each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer;
- (vi) an executed pay-off letter and UCC-3 termination statements and other Lien terminations or releases, each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, from each Person to whom any Indebtedness is owed, evidencing satisfaction in full of all such Indebtedness and the termination or release of all Liens on the Purchased Assets related to such Indebtedness, other than any arising under the Transferred Contracts;
- (vii) certificates of title (or similar documents) with respect to any vehicles or other equipment included in the Purchased Assets for which a certificate of title is required in order to transfer title;
- (viii) a flash drive with a copy of the all documents and other materials contained in the Data Room as it existed at 11:59 p.m. Central Time on the day that is two (2) Business Days immediately prior to the Closing Date; and
- (ix) such other instruments of sale, transfer, conveyance and assignment as Buyer reasonably request for the purpose of consummating the purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities.

- 6.2 **Conditions to Obligation of Sellers to Close.** The obligations of Sellers to proceed with the Closing are subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing of each of the following conditions, unless otherwise waived in writing by Sellers:
- (a) Representations and Warranties. Each of the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct on and as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date (other than any representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date, which need be true and correct as of such specified date only), except to the extent that the failure of such representations and warranties of Buyer to be so true and correct on and as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date (or in respect of any representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date, as of such specified date only) has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Buyer Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) <u>Performance</u>. Buyer shall have duly performed or complied with all of the other material covenants, acts and obligations to be performed or complied with by Buyer hereunder at or prior to the Closing.
- (c) <u>No Legal Prohibition</u>. Neither Seller nor Buyer shall be subject to any Order, decree, or injunction of a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Authority and no Law shall be enacted or issued, in each case which enjoins, prevents or makes illegal any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (d) <u>Seller Revolving Line of Credit</u>. Sellers and their Affiliates shall have received prior written consent to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement from applicable lenders and credit institutions to the extent required pursuant to the terms of their Sustainable Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, dated April 14, 2021 as amended.
- (e) <u>Landlord Consent to Assignment</u>. Sellers shall have received a consent to assignment letter, on a form that includes a general release of Sellers, duly executed by the applicable landlord, pursuant to which the landlord consents to the assignment of the applicable Lease to Buyer.
 - (f) Deliveries. Buyer shall have delivered to Sellers and the other parties set forth below:
- (i) A certificate dated the Closing Date certifying that Buyer has complied with and satisfied the conditions in Section 6.2(a) and Section 6.2(b);
- (ii) a certificate from Buyer, dated as of the Closing Date, duly executed by an officer of Buyer, certifying as to (i) the resolutions approved by the board of directors of Buyer authorizing the execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and each other Acquisition Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including Exhibit 5.6) and each of the other Acquisition Agreements and (ii) the names and signatures of the officers of Buyer authorized to execute this Agreement and the other Acquisition Agreements and the other documents to be delivered by Buyer under this Agreement and the other Acquisition Agreements;
 - (iii) the Purchase Price in accordance with Section 2.3; and
- (iv) a counterpart to each Acquisition Agreement to which Buyer or any of its Affiliates, as applicable, is a party, duly executed and delivered by a duly authorized Representative of such Person.

ARTICLE VII INDEMNIFICATION

7.1 Survival.

- (a) Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, the representations and warranties contained herein shall survive Closing and shall remain in full force and effect until the date that is eighteen (18) months from the Closing Date; *provided, that* the representations and warranties in (i) Section 3.1 (Organization), Section 3.2 (Authority), Section 3.3 (No Conflict), Section 3.4 (Title; Sufficiency and Condition of Assets), Section 3.10 (Taxes), and Section 3.20 (Brokers) (collectively, the "Fundamental Representations") shall survive until the sixtieth (60th) day after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (taking into account tolling periods or valid extensions properly obtained). None of the covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing Date other than those which by their terms contemplate performance after the Closing Date, and each such surviving covenant and agreement shall survive the Closing for the period of time until such covenants or agreements are fully performed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claims asserted in good faith with reasonable specificity (to the extent known at such time) and in writing by notice from the non-breaching party to the breaching party prior to the expiration date of the applicable survival period shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of such survival period and such claims shall survive until finally resolved.
- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, all representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements related to any claim for indemnification asserted within the applicable survival period set forth in Section 7.1(a), and the Indemnifying Party's obligations pursuant to this Article VII, shall survive until (i) all such claims shall have been finally resolved and payment in respect thereof, if any is required to be made, shall have been made and (ii) if, during the applicable survival period referred to in Section 7.1(a), the Indemnified Party becomes aware of facts or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to lead to a Third-Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party's obligations pursuant to this Article VII shall not terminate with respect to such potential Third-Party Claim if the Indemnified Party notifies the Indemnifying Party of the general nature of such potential Third-Party Claim in accordance with Section 7.5 prior to the end of the applicable survival period, whether or not a Third-Party Claim is actually made or threatened against the Indemnified Party prior to the end of the applicable survival period.
- 7.2 **Indemnification By Sellers.** From and after the Closing, subject to the other terms and conditions of this <u>Article VII</u>, Sellers shall, jointly and severally, indemnify and defend Buyer and its Affiliates, and each of their respective Representatives, successors, and assigns (each, a "**Buyer Indemnified Party**") against, and shall hold such Buyer Indemnified Party harmless from and against, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, such Buyer Indemnified Party based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of:
 - (a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Sellers contained in this Agreement;
- (b) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Sellers pursuant to this Agreement;
- (c) the failure of any Seller to comply with any applicable bulk sales, bulk transfer, or similar Laws in any jurisdiction in which the Purchased Assets are located or which may otherwise be applicable to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or
 - (d) any Excluded Asset or any Excluded Liability.

- 7.3 **Indemnification by Buyer.** Subject to the other terms and conditions of this <u>Article VII</u>, Buyer and Buyer Parent shall, jointly and severally, indemnify and defend Sellers and their Affiliates, and each of their respective Representatives, successors, and assigns (each, a "**Seller Indemnified Party**") against, and shall hold such Seller Indemnified Party harmless from and against, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, such Seller Indemnified Party based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of:
 - (a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement;
- (b) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement; or
 - (c) any Assumed Liability.
- 7.4 **Certain Limitations.** The party making a claim under this <u>Section 7.4</u> is referred to as the "**Indemnified Party**", and the party against whom such claims are asserted under this <u>Section 7.4</u> is referred to as the "**Indemnifying Party**". The indemnification provided for in <u>Sections 7.2</u> or <u>7.3</u>, shall be subject to the following limitations:
- (a) The Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to the Indemnified Party for indemnification under <u>Sections 7.2</u> or <u>7.3</u>, as the case may be, until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under <u>Sections 7.2</u> or <u>7.3</u> exceeds [******] (the "**Deductible**"), in which event the Indemnifying Party shall only be required to pay or be liable for Losses in excess of the Deductible.
- (b) The aggregate amount of all Losses for which an Indemnifying Party shall be liable pursuant to Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.3(a), as the case may be, shall not exceed [******]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the limitations set forth in this Section 7.4 shall not apply to Losses based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of fraud or by reason of any inaccuracy in or breach of any Fundamental Representations and (ii) the aggregate amount of all Losses for which Sellers shall be liable to Buyer pursuant to Section 7.2 shall not exceed the Purchase Price unless such Losses are based upon, arise out of or by reason of fraud.
- (c) Payments by an Indemnifying Party pursuant to <u>Sections 7.2</u> or <u>7.3</u>, in respect of any Loss shall be limited to the amount of any Liability or damage that remains after deducting therefrom any insurance proceeds and any indemnity, contribution or other similar payment actually received by the Indemnified Party in respect of any such claim. The Indemnified Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to recover under insurance policies or indemnity, contribution or other similar agreements for any Losses prior to seeking indemnification under this Agreement.
- (d) Payments by an Indemnifying Party pursuant to Sections 7.2 or 7.3, in respect of any Loss shall be reduced by an amount equal to any Tax benefit actually realized as a result of such Loss by the Indemnified Party. For the purposes of this Section 7.4(d), a Tax benefit will be considered realized only to the extent that the amount of Taxes that would have been payable in cash by the Indemnified Party in the absence of the deductions of the Losses exceeds the amount of Taxes actually paid in cash by the Indemnified Party consistent with applicable Laws regarding the deductibility of such amount and after taking into account all other items of income, gain, credit, deduction and loss.
- (e) In no event shall any Indemnifying Party be liable to any Indemnified Party for any punitive, special or indirect damages, except to the extent an Indemnified Party is ordered by a Governmental Authority to pay such damages in connection with a Third-Party Claim.

7.5 Indemnification Procedures.

- (a) Third-Party Claims. If any Indemnified Party receives notice of the assertion or commencement of any action, suit, claim or other legal proceeding made or brought by any Person who is not a party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement or a Representative of the foregoing (a "Third-Party Claim") against such Indemnified Party with respect to which the Indemnifying Party is obligated to provide indemnification under this Agreement, the Indemnified Party shall give the Indemnifying Party prompt written notice thereof. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall not, however, relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification obligations, except and only to the extent that the Indemnifying Party forfeits rights or defenses by reason of such failure. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Third-Party Claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate in, or by giving written notice to the Indemnified Party, to assume the defense of any Third-Party Claim at the Indemnifying Party's expense and by the Indemnifying Party's own counsel, and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in good faith in such defense. In the event that the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of any Third-Party Claim, subject to Section 7.5(b), it shall have the right to take such action as it deems necessary to avoid, dispute, defend, appeal or make counterclaims pertaining to any such Third-Party Claim in the name and on behalf of the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party shall have the right, at its own cost and expense, to participate in the defense of any Third-Party Claim with counsel selected by it subject to the Indemnifying Party's right to control the defense thereof. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to compromise or defend such Third-Party Claim or fails to promptly notify the Indemnified Party in writing of its election to defend as provided in this Agreement, the Indemnified Party may, subject to Section 7.5(b), pay, compromise, defend such Third-Party Claim and seek indemnification for any and all Losses based upon, arising from or relating to such Third-Party Claim. Sellers and Buyer shall cooperate with each other in all reasonable respects in connection with the defense of any Third-Party Claim, including making available (subject to the provisions of Section 5.8) records relating to such Third-Party Claim and furnishing, without expense (other than reimbursement of actual out-of-pocket expenses) to the defending party, management employees of the non-defending party as may be reasonably necessary for the preparation of the defense of such Third-Party Claim.
- (b) Settlement of Third-Party Claims. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into settlement of any Third-Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), except as provided in this Section 7.5(b). If a firm offer is made to settle a Third-Party Claim without leading to Liability or the creation of a financial or other obligation on the part of the Indemnified Party and provides, in customary form, for the unconditional release of each Indemnified Party from all Liabilities in connection with such Third-Party Claim and the Indemnifying Party desires to accept and agree to such offer, the Indemnifying Party shall give written notice to that effect to the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnified Party fails to consent to such firm offer within ten (10) days after its receipt of such notice, the Indemnified Party may continue to contest or defend such Third-Party Claim, and in such event, the maximum Liability of the Indemnifying Party as to such Third-Party Claim shall not exceed the amount of such settlement offer. If the Indemnified Party fails to consent to such firm offer and also fails to assume defense of such Third-Party Claim, the Indemnified Party has assumed the defense pursuant to Section 7.5(a), it shall not agree to any settlement without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
- (c) <u>Direct Claims</u>. Any claim by an Indemnified Party on account of a Loss which does not result from a Third-Party Claim (a "**Direct Claim**") shall be asserted by the Indemnified Party giving the Indemnifying Party prompt written notice thereof. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall

not, however, relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification obligations, except and only to the extent that the Indemnifying Party forfeits rights or defenses by reason of such failure. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Direct Claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have thirty (30) days after its receipt of such notice to respond in writing to such Direct Claim. During such 30-day period, the Indemnified Party shall allow the Indemnifying Party and its professional advisors to investigate the matter or circumstance alleged to give rise to the Direct Claim, and whether and to what extent any amount is payable in respect of the Direct Claim and the Indemnified Party shall assist the Indemnifying Party's investigation by giving such information and assistance (including access to the Indemnified Party's premises and personnel and the right to examine and copy any accounts, documents or records) as the Indemnifying Party or any of its professional advisors may reasonably request. If the Indemnifying Party does not so respond within such 30-day period, the Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to have rejected such claim, in which case the Indemnified Party shall be free to pursue such remedies as may be available to the Indemnified Party on the terms and subject to the provisions of this Agreement.

- 7.6 **Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments.** All indemnification payments made under this Agreement shall be treated by the Parties as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.
- 7.7 **Exclusive Remedies.** Subject to (and without limiting the effects of) the terms of Section 9.11, the Parties acknowledge and agree that their sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any and all claims (other than claims arising from intentional misrepresentation, fraud or intentional or willful breach on the part of a party hereto in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this Article VII and the remedies set forth in Exhibit 5.6. In furtherance of the foregoing, each Party hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted under Law, any and all rights, claims and causes of action for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement it may have against the other Parties hereto and their Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives arising under or based upon any Law, except pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this Article VII. Nothing in this Section 7.7 shall limit any Person's right to seek any remedy on account of any intentional misrepresentation, fraud or intentional or willful breach by any party hereto. The rights and remedies set forth in Section 5.6 (and the accompanying Exhibit 5.6) are intended to be liquidated damages, and the sole remedies, relating to the subject matter thereof, and not a penalty, and the payment of the amounts set forth therein, under the circumstances set forth therein, is supported by due and sufficient consideration.

ARTICLE VIII TERMINATION

- 8.1 **Termination.** This Agreement may be terminated without limiting or waiving any other rights and remedies any Party may have at Law or in equity:
 - (a) with the mutual written consent of Buyer and Sellers;
- (b) by Sellers, if Buyer shall have breached any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach (i) would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.2 being satisfied and (ii) (A) if capable of being cured, has not been cured by Buyer by the earlier of (1) sixty (60) days after the Effective Date, or (2) thirty (30) days after its receipt of written notice thereof from Sellers or (B) is incapable of being cured; provided, however, that the

right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 8.1(b)</u> shall not be available to Sellers if (x) the failure of Sellers to fulfill any of their respective obligations under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, such breach, or (y) the conditions in <u>Section 6.1</u> are not capable of being satisfied because there is then a breach or inaccuracy of a covenant, representation or warranty made by any Seller in this Agreement, as applicable;

- (c) by Buyer, if any Seller shall have breached any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach (i) would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.1 being satisfied and (ii) (A) if capable of being cured, has not been cured by such Seller by the earlier of (1) sixty (60) days after the Effective Date, or (2) thirty (30) days after its receipt of written notice thereof from Buyer or (B) is incapable of being cured; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(c) shall not be available to Buyer if (x) the failure of Buyer to fulfill any of its obligations under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, such breach, or (y) the conditions in Section 6.2 are not capable of being satisfied because there is then a breach or inaccuracy of a covenant, representation or warranty made by Buyer in this Agreement, as applicable; or
- (d) by either Buyer or Sellers, (i) if any Governmental Authority shall have issued an Order or taken any other action permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such Order or other action shall have become final and nonappealable, or if the Closing has not occurred on or before 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the sixtieth (60th) day after the Effective Date; *provided, however*, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to the foregoing clause (ii) shall not be available to any Party who has breached, or is then in breach, of this Agreement and such breach has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of any condition set forth in Article VI to be satisfied as of such date.
- 8.2 **Effect of Termination.** In the event of a termination of this Agreement, no Party shall have any Liability or further obligation to the other, except that the provisions of <u>Article VIII</u> and <u>Article IX</u> shall survive the termination of this Agreement; *provided, however*, that nothing in this <u>Section 8.2</u> shall relieve any Party of any liability for its fraud or its material and intentional breach by such Party of this Agreement prior to such termination. [******]

ARTICLE IX GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 9.1 **Financing Related Parties.** Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, each Seller, on its own behalf and on behalf of its Affiliates and Representatives, (a) agrees that none of the Financing Related Parties shall have any liability to such Seller or its Affiliates or Representatives this Agreement or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including any dispute relating to or arising from the Financing, (b) waives any rights or claims of any kind such Seller or any of its Affiliates or Representatives may have against any Financing Related Party relating to this Agreement, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Financing, and (c) agrees not to commence (or if commenced, agrees to dismiss or otherwise terminate) any Action against any Financing Related Party in connection with this Agreement, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Financing. Nothing in this Section 9.1 will limit the rights of Buyer and or any of its Affiliates or their obligations hereunder in respect of the Financing.
- 9.2 **Fees and Expenses.** Except as otherwise provided herein, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with or related to this Agreement, the other Acquisition Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall be paid by the Party incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not such transactions are consummated.

- 9.3 **Amendment and Modification.** This Agreement may not be amended, modified or supplemented in any manner, whether by course of conduct or otherwise, except by an instrument in writing specifically designated as an amendment hereto, signed on behalf of each Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing Section 9.1, this Section 9.3, and Sections 9.4, 9.8, 9.9, 9.10 and 9.11(b) may not be modified or amended in a manner that is materially adverse to any Financing Related Party without the prior written consent of the Financing Sources
- 9.4 **Waiver.** No failure or delay of any Party in exercising any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such right or power, or any course of conduct, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. Any agreement on the part of any Party to any such waiver shall be valid only if set forth in a written instrument executed and delivered by a duly authorized officer on behalf of such Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Sections 9.1, 9.3, this Section 9.4, and Sections 9.8, 9.9, 9.10 and 9.11(b) may not be waived in a manner that is materially adverse to any Financing Related Party without the prior written consent of the Financing Sources.
- 9.5 **Notices.** All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly given (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, or if by e-mail, upon confirmation of receipt by e-mail (other than an automated "out-of-office" reply) or otherwise, (b) on the first Business Day following the date of dispatch if delivered utilizing a next-day service by a recognized next-day courier or (c) on the earlier of confirmed receipt or the third Business Day following the date of mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. All notices hereunder shall be delivered to the addresses set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the Party to receive such notice:
 - (i) if to Sellers, to:

Oatly Inc. 2275 Bridge St Building 209, Suite 200 Philadelphia, PA 19137 Email: [***]

Attention: Mike Messersmith, President

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 1300 SW 5th Ave, Suite 2400 Portland, OR 97201 Telephone: [***] E-mail: [***] Attention: [***]

(ii) if to Buyer, to:

Entrepreneurial Equity Partners 353 N. Clark Street, Suite 1760 Chicago, IL 60654 Attention: [***] Telephone: [***]

E-mail: [***]
[***]
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Mayer Brown LLP 71 S Wacker Drive Chicago, IL 60606 Telephone: [***] Attention: [***] E-mail: [***]

- 9.6 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to a Section, Article or Schedule such reference shall be to a Section, Article or Schedule of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement or in any Schedule are for convenience of reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. All words used in this Agreement will be construed to be of such gender or number as the circumstances require. Any capitalized terms used in any Schedule but not otherwise defined therein shall have the meaning as defined in this Agreement. The Disclosure Schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth herein. The word "including" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement will mean "including, without limitation," unless otherwise specified. The words "hereof," "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to the Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision in this Agreement. The term "or" is not exclusive. The word "will" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "shall." References to days mean calendar days unless otherwise specified.
- 9.7 **Entire Agreement.** The Acquisition Agreements (including any schedules, exhibits, annexes and attachments thereto) and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement, and supersede all prior written agreements, arrangements, communications and understandings and all prior and contemporaneous oral agreements, arrangements, communications and understandings between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof.
- 9.8 **Third-Party Beneficiaries.** This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each Party hereto, and nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any Person other than the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement; *provided*, *however*, that Sections 9.1, 9.3, 9.4, this Section 9.8, and Sections 9.9, 9.10 and 9.11(b) shall be enforceable by the Financing Related Parties.
- 9.9 Governing Law. This Agreement and all disputes or controversies arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal Laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the Laws of any other jurisdiction that might be applied because of the conflicts of laws principles of the State of Delaware. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each of Sellers and Buyer hereby irrevocably agrees that any Action against any Financing Related Party in any way relating to this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Financing shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal Laws of the State of New York, without regard to the Laws of any other jurisdiction that might be applied because of the conflicts of laws principles of the State of New York.
- 9.10 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR

COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE FINANCING, INCLUDING ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM AGAINST ANY FINANCING SOURCE. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER; (B) EACH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAVIER; (C) EACH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY; AND (D) EACH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 9.10.

9.11 Disputes.

- (a) In the event any Party commences any Action in connection with or relating to this Agreement, the Parties hereby (i) agree that any Action shall be instituted exclusively in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (unless the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware declines to accept jurisdiction over a particular matter, in which case, in any state or federal court within the State of Delaware) (such courts, including appellate courts therefrom, the "Specified Courts"), (ii) agree that in the event of any such litigation, proceeding or action, the Parties will consent and submit to personal jurisdiction in the applicable Specified Court and to service of process upon them in accordance with the rules and statutes governing service of process (it being understood that nothing in this Section 9.11(a)shall be deemed to prevent any Party from seeking to remove any action to a United States federal court that is a Specified Court), (iii) agree to waive to the full extent permitted by Law any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the venue of any Action in any such court or that any such Action was brought in an inconvenient forum, (iv) agree as an alternative method of service to service of process in any legal proceeding by mailing of copies thereof to such party at its address set forth in Section 9.5 for communications to such Party, (v) agree that any service made as provided herein shall be effective and binding service in every respect and (vi) agree that nothing herein shall affect the rights of any Party to effect service of process in any other manner permitted by Law. The Parties agree that a final trial court judgment in any such Action shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Law; provided, however, that nothing in the foregoing shall restrict any party's rights to seek any post-judgment relief regarding, or any appeal from, such final trial court judgment.
- (b) Notwithstanding anything in Section 9.11(a) to the contrary, each of Sellers and Buyer hereby irrevocably agrees that any Action against any Financing Related Party in any way relating to this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Financing shall be brought only to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, or, if under applicable law exclusive jurisdiction is vested in the Federal courts, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (and appellate courts thereof).
- 9.12 **Specific Performance.** Each of the Parties acknowledges and agrees that the other parties to this Agreement would be irreparably damaged in the event that any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their specific terms or otherwise are breached. Therefore, notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, each of the Parties hereby agrees that the other Parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement, and to enforce specifically the performance by such first party under this Agreement, and each Party hereby agrees to waive the defense in any such suit that the other Parties have an adequate remedy at law and to interpose no opposition, legal or otherwise, as to the propriety of injunction or specific performance as a remedy, and hereby agrees to waive any requirement to post any bond in connection with obtaining such relief. The equitable remedies described in this Section 9.12 shall

be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies at law or in equity that the Parties may elect to pursue. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer shall not be obligated to initiate, and none of Sellers shall be entitled to compel Buyer to initiate (whether pursuant to this Section 9.12 or otherwise), any Action against a Financing Source or Financing Related Party under or in connection with this Agreement.

- 9.13 **Disclosure Generally.** The information contained in this Agreement and in the Disclosure Schedules is disclosed solely for purposes of this Agreement, and no information contained herein or therein shall be deemed to be an admission by any Party hereto to any Person (including any other Party) of any matter whatsoever (including any violation of Law or breach of Contract). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or anything to the contrary contained in the Disclosure Schedules, the information and disclosures contained in any section or subsection of the Disclosure Schedules shall be deemed to be disclosed with respect to, and qualify, any representation or warranty of Sellers to which the relevance of such information and disclosure is reasonably apparent on its face. The fact that any item of information is disclosed in any section or subsection of the Disclosure Schedules shall not be construed to mean that such information is required to be disclosed by this Agreement or is material to or outside the ordinary course of the Business. Such information and the dollar thresholds set forth herein and therein shall not be used as a basis for interpreting the terms "material," "Material Adverse Effect," or any similar qualifier in this Agreement. In addition, matters reflected in any section or subsection of the Disclosure Schedules are not necessarily limited to matters required by this Agreement to be reflected in Disclosure Schedules. Such additional matters are set forth for informational purposes only and do not necessarily include other matters of a similar nature. The Disclosure Schedules and the information and disclosures contained in the Disclosure Schedules are intended only to qualify and limit the representations, warranties or contained in this Agreement and shall not be deemed to expand in any way the scope or effect of any of such representations, warranties or covenants.
- 9.14 **Non-Recourse.** All claims or causes of action (whether in contract or in tort, in law or in equity) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement, or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement, may be made only against the persons that are expressly identified as parties hereto. Each of the Parties acknowledges and agrees that no Person who is not a named party to this Agreement, any past, present or future Affiliate thereof or any of their respective Affiliates, Representatives, members, managers, partners, or direct or indirect equityholders (including stockholders and optionholders), shall have any liability (whether in contract or in tort, under any applicable Law or in equity, or based upon any theory that seeks to impose liability of a person against its owners or Affiliates) for any obligations or other Liabilities arising under, in connection with or related to this Agreement or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of this Agreement or the negotiation or execution, and each of the Parties waives and releases all such Liabilities, claims and obligations against any such Person.
- 9.15 **Assignment; Successors.** Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement may be assigned or delegated, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by operation of law or otherwise, by any Party without the prior written consent of the other Parties, and any such assignment without such prior written consent shall be null and void, except that Buyer may, without the consent of any other Party, (a) assign any of its rights under this Agreement to any Affiliate of Buyer or (b) assign its rights hereunder for collateral security purposes to the Financing Sources providing the Financing to the Buyer; *provided, however*, that notwithstanding any such assignment, Buyer shall not be released from any of its obligations under this Agreement. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the Parties and their respective successors and assigns.
- 9.16 **Currency.** All references to "dollars" or "\$" or "US\$" in the Acquisition Agreements refer to United States dollars, which is the currency used for all purposes in the Acquisition Agreements.

- 9.17 **Severability.** Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable Law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or portion of any provision in such jurisdiction, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or portion of any provision had never been contained herein.
- 9.18 **Counterparts.** This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same instrument and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the Parties and delivered to the other Parties.
- 9.19 **Electronic or .pdf Signature.** This Agreement may be executed and delivered via fax or electronically (including as a PDF or using any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
 - 9.20 **Time of Essence.** Time is of the essence with regard to all dates and time periods set forth or referred to in this Agreement.
- 9.21 **No Presumption Against Drafting Party.** Each Party acknowledges that each Party to this Agreement has been represented by legal counsel in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Accordingly, any rule of Law or any legal decision that would require interpretation of any claimed ambiguities in this Agreement against the drafting Party has no application and is expressly waived.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date and year first written above.

OATLY INC.

By: /s/ Roy Toni Petersson

Name: Roy Toni Petersson

Title: President

OATLY US OPERATIONS & SUPPLY INC.

By: /s/ Roy Toni Petersson

Name: Roy Toni Petersson

Title: President

[Signature Page to Asset Purchase Agreement]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date and year first written above.

YA YA FOODS USA LLC

By: /s/ Kevin Henneck Name: Kevin Henneck Title: Assistant Secretary

ASEPTIC BEVERAGE HOLDINGS LP

By: ASEPTIC BEVERAGE HOLDINGS LLC, its general partner

By: /s/ Mark Burgett Name: Mark Burgett Title: Manager

[Signature Page to Asset Purchase Agreement]